

Technical University of Denmark



EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies (NDA); Scientific Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of calcium

EFSA Publication; Tetens, Inge

Link to article, DOI: 10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2814

Publication date: 2012

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link back to DTU Orbit

Citation (APA):

EFSA Publication (2012). EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies (NDA); Scientific Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of calcium. Parma, Italy: European Food Safety Authority. (The EFSA Journal; No. 2814, Vol. 10(7)). DOI: 10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2814

DTU Library Technical Information Center of Denmark

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



SCIENTIFIC OPINION

Scientific Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of calcium¹

EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA)^{2, 3}

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), Parma, Italy

ABSTRACT

Following a request from the European Commission, the Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies was asked to re-evaluate the safety in use of calcium. The Panel was requested to consider if the Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) for calcium established by the SCF in 2003 (2,500 mg/day for adults, including pregnant and lactating women), which was based on different intervention studies of long duration in which total daily calcium intakes of 2,500 mg from both diet and supplements were tolerated without adverse effects, needed to be changed on the basis of new available evidence. A number of placebo controlled human intervention studies in adults published since then also showed that total daily calcium intakes of 2,500 mg from both diet and supplements are tolerated without adverse effects. The Panel considers that no relationship has been established between long-term calcium intakes from diet and supplements and increased risk of nephrolithiasis, cardiovascular disease or prostate cancer. No new data have become available which would require a revision of the UL for calcium for adults, including pregnant and lactating women, of 2,500 mg. No new data have become available which would allow the setting of a UL for infants, children or adolescents. Data from European populations indicate that intakes of calcium in high consumers among adult males can be close to the UL. Although available data do not allow the setting of a UL for infants, children or adolescents, no risk has been identified with highest current levels of calcium intake in these age groups. © European Food Safety Authority, 2012

KEY WORDS

Calcium, supplements, hypercalcaemia, hypercalciuria, UL, safety.

¹ On request from the European Commission, Question No EFSA-Q-2011-00956, adopted on 26 June 2012.

² Panel members: Carlo Agostoni, Jean-Louis Bresson, Susan Fairweather-Tait, Albert Flynn, Ines Golly, Hannu Korhonen, Pagona Lagiou, Martinus Løvik, Rosangela Marchelli, Ambroise Martin, Bevan Moseley, Monika Neuhäuser-Berthold, Hildegard Przyrembel, Seppo Salminen, Yolanda Sanz, Sean (J.J.) Strain, Stephan Strobel, Inge Tetens, Daniel Tomé, Hendrik van Loveren and Hans Verhagen. Correspondence: <u>nda@efsa.europa.eu</u>

³ Acknowledgement: The Panel wishes to thank the members of the Working Group on Tolerable Upper Intake Levels for nutrients: Albert Flynn, Ambroise Martin, Hildegard Przyrembel and Sean (J.J.) Strain for the preparatory work on this scientific opinion.

Suggested citation: EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies (NDA); Scientific Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of calcium. EFSA Journal 2012;10(7):2814. [44 pp.] doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2814. Available online: www.efsa.europa.eu/efsajournal



SUMMARY

Following a request from the European Commission, the Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies was asked to re-evaluate the safety in use of calcium and to provide, if necessary, revised Tolerable Upper Intake Levels (ULs) of calcium for all relevant population groups.

Calcium is important for the maintenance of healthy teeth and bones, cell signalling, coagulation, muscle contraction, neural transmission and many other functions. Calcium is the fifth most abundant element in the human body. Some 99 % of the total calcium of the body is located in bones and teeth, mostly as calcium hydroxyapatite. Bone mineral provides structure and strength to the body, and a reservoir of calcium that helps to maintain a constant concentration of calcium in the blood.

Foods vary widely in calcium content. The best sources are milk and milk products, which provide about 45 to 70 % of the dietary calcium in European diets. Some plants, drinking and mineral water, and food supplements are also good sources of well absorbable calcium.

A number of potential adverse effects of excessive calcium intakes have been proposed. These include hypercalciuria, deterioration of kidney function, kidney stone formation, the milk-alkali syndrome (MAS), vascular calcification, increased risk of cardiovascular disease and increased risk of prostate cancer.

The SCF (2003) based the derivation of a UL for calcium on the evidence of different intervention studies of long duration, some of which were placebo controlled, in which total daily calcium intakes of 2,500 mg from both diet and supplements were tolerated without adverse effects. Because of the abundance of data, the application of an uncertainty factor was considered unnecessary. A UL of 2,500 mg of calcium per day from all sources was proposed for adults, and for pregnant and lactating women.

A number of placebo controlled human intervention studies in adults published since then also show that total daily calcium intakes of 2,500 mg from both diet and supplements are tolerated without adverse effects.

The Panel notes that new case reports have become available on consumption of calcium supplements and the CAS/MAS syndrome. However, the Panel considers that no dose-response relationships can be derived from these.

The Panel considers that no relationship has been established between long-term calcium intakes from diet and supplements and increased risk of nephrolithiasis, cardiovascular disease or prostate cancer.

The Panel concludes that no new data have become available which would require a revision of the UL for calcium for adults, including pregnant and lactating women, of 2,500 mg, and that no new data have become available which would allow the setting of a UL for infants, children or adolescents.

Data from European populations indicate that intakes of calcium in high consumers among adult males can be close to the UL. Although available data do not allow the setting of a UL for infants, children or adolescents, no risk has been identified with highest current levels of calcium intake in these age groups.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	. 1
Summary	. 2
Table of contents	. 3
Background as provided by the European Commission	. 4
Terms of reference as provided by the European Commission	. 4
Assessment	. 5
1. Introduction	. 5
2. Dietary Intake	. 5
2.1. Food sources including dietary supplements	. 5
2.2. Dietary intakes	. 6
2.2.1. Adults	. 6
2.2.2. Infants (≤1 year)	. 6
2.2.3. Children (generally between 1 and 14 years)	. 6
2.2.4. Adolescents (generally between 10 and 18 years)	. 7
3. Hazard identification	. 7
3.1. Calcium physiology and homeostasis	. 7
3.1.1. Serum calcium and its regulation	. 7
3.1.2. Calcium absorption in the intestine	. 8
3.1.3. Renal excretion and re-absorption of calcium	. 9
3.2. Adverse effects of excess calcium intake	10
3.2.1. Milk-alkali syndrome/calcium-alkali-syndrome	10
3.2.2. Hypercalciuria, kidney function and kidney stones	11
3.2.3. Risk of cardiovascular disease	14
3.2.4. Prostate cancer	18
3.2.5. Interactions between calcium and dietary minerals	19
4. Dose response assessment and derivation of a Tolerable Upper Intake Level	19
4.1. Adults	19
4.2. Pregnant and lactating women	20
4.3. Infants	20
4.4. Children and adolescents	20
5. Characterisation of the risk	20
Conclusions	20
References	21
Appendices	31
A. Intake of calcium among adults in European countries	31
B. Intake of calcium among children in European countries	37
Glossary and Abbreviations	43



BACKGROUND AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Calcium has been assessed in the past by the Scientific Committee on Food. In the Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) of calcium of 4 April 2003 an UL was established for adults of 2500mg of calcium per day for calcium intake from all sources. The Committee could not derive an UL for children and adolescents due to insufficient data.

On 30 November 2010, the American Institute of Medicine (IoM) published a report on "*Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D*". In this report, the IoM proposes new reference values and UL values for calcium which, as stated in the report "*are based on much more information and higher-quality study results than were previously available*".

TERMS OF REFERENCE AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

In accordance with Article 29 (1) (a) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, the European Commission asks the European Food Safety Authority to:

- re-evaluate the safety in use of calcium,
- if necessary, provide revised tolerable upper intake levels, that are unlikely to pose a risk of adverse health effects, for calcium for all relevant population groups.



ASSESSMENT

1. Introduction

Calcium is important for the maintenance of healthy teeth and bones, cell signalling, coagulation, muscle contraction, neural transmission and many other functions. Calcium is the fifth most abundant element in the human body. Some 99 % of the total calcium of the body is located in bones and teeth, mostly as calcium hydroxyapatite. Bone mineral provides structure and strength to the body, and a reservoir of calcium that helps to maintain a constant concentration of calcium in the blood.

In 2003, the Scientific Committee on Food (SCF) established a Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) of calcium for adults, including pregnant and lactating women, of 2,500 mg/day. This UL was based on different long-term intervention studies in which a total daily intake of 2,500 mg of calcium/day from all sources (diet and supplements) was tolerated without adverse effects. The Committee was unable to derive a UL for children and adolescents from the very few data available from intervention studies, and it was considered inappropriate to derive such age-specific ULs via extrapolation from data collected in older age groups.

The UL for calcium of the SCF (2003) was the same as that from the US Institutes of Medicine (IoM, 1997), which was based on a LOAEL of 4,000-5,000 mg/day identified by using the milk alkali syndrome as the critical endpoint and applying an uncertainty factor of 2 because of observed associations between calcium intake and the potential hazard of kidney stones, hypercalciuria, and interference of dietary calcium with the bioavailability of some minerals in vulnerable populations. The IoM also defined the same UL of 2,500 mg of calcium/day for adults >70 years of age, for children and adolescents 1-18 years of age, and for pregnant and lactating women, but could not establish a UL for infants.

In 2011, the IoM published its re-assessment of the UL for calcium, which for adults \geq 51 years old was based on a LOAEL of 2,000 mg of calcium/day with nephrolithiasis as the critical endpoint (Jackson et al., 2006). No uncertainty factor was applied. For adults 19 to 50 years of age, the UL was the same as in 1997 and was derived by interpolation between the UL for older adults and the new UL of 3,000 mg for children aged 9-13 years and adolescents aged 14-18 years. This latter value was set taking into account a presumably higher need of, and consequently a higher tolerance for, calcium in the age group 9-18 years in connection with the pubertal growth spurt. A UL of 1,500 mg of calcium/day was derived from a NOAEL of 1,750 mg/day observed in one intervention study on infants aged 2.5 to 5 months at baseline and 9 months at the end of the intervention (Dalton et al., 1997; Sargent et al., 1999). Uncertainty factors of 2 and 1.2 were applied to adjust for the weight increment during the intervention and the results were rounded up to ULs of 1,000 mg/day for infants aged 0-6 months and of 1,500 mg/day for infants aged 6-12 months, respectively. No new data were available for the age group 1-8 years and the UL of 2,500 mg/day was kept. For pregnant and lactating women, the age-specific UL for adolescents aged 14-18 years of 3,000 mg/day and the UL of 2,500 mg/day for women >19 years of age were considered adequate.

The Panel was requested to consider whether the UL for calcium established by the SCF in 2003 needed to be changed on the basis of new available evidence.

2. Dietary Intake

2.1. Food sources including dietary supplements

Foods vary widely in calcium content. The best sources are milk (120 mg/100 g) and milk products (up to about 1,100 mg/100 g), from which about 32 % of calcium is absorbable (Weaver, 2001). In

European diets, about 45 to 70 % of the dietary calcium intake is provided by dairy products (Guéguen and Pointillart, 2000; IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), 2001). Some plants are good sources of well absorbable calcium, for example brassica, almonds and dried apricots. However, some vegetables (rhubarb, spinach) contain considerable amounts of calcium which is poorly absorbed because of a high content in oxalate, which forms sparingly soluble calcium oxalate. Drinking water and mineral waters (>150 mg calcium/L) can also be good sources of absorbable calcium.

In the European Union, the following forms of calcium are authorised for addition to foods and for use in food supplements (Annex II of the Regulation (EC) No $1925/2006^4$ and Annex II of Directive $2002/46/EC^5$): carbonate, chloride, citrate malate, gluconate, glycerophosphate, lactate, hydroxide, oxide, acetate, L-ascorbate, bisglycinate, salts of citric acid, pyruvate, salts of orthophosphoric acid, succinate, L-lysinate, malate, L-pidolate, L-threonate, sulphate.

2.2. Dietary intakes

Mean intakes of calcium in European countries vary according to sex, age, and supplementation habits (Appendices A and B). There is a large diversity in the methodology used to assess the individual intakes of children, adolescents and adults. These differences in dietary assessment methods make direct comparisons difficult. Data from Poland based on a single 24-h recall have been listed in Appendices A and B for completeness, but have not been considered in the text. Age classifications may not be uniform and comparability is also hindered by differences in food composition tables used for the conversion of food consumption data to nutrient intake data (Deharveng et al., 1999). Although these differences have an impact on the accuracy of between-country comparisons, the data presented give a rough overview of average calcium intakes and intakes in high consumers in a number of European countries.

2.2.1. Adults

Mean calcium intakes from food only were between 623 mg/day (Belgium, \geq 75 years) and 1,374 mg/day (Denmark, men, 18-24 years), and median intakes were within this range. Available values for high percentiles of intake were between 1,045 mg/day (Spain, P95, women, 18-64 years) and 2,422 mg/day (Germany, P95, men, 19-24 years). Mean calcium intakes in the surveys considering food and food supplements combined were within these ranges, as well as values for the highest percentiles of calcium intake.

2.2.2. Infants (≤1 year)

Mean calcium intakes from food were available from one country only (The Netherlands) and varied between 730 mg/day (0.75 years) and 824 mg/day (1 year). The value for the high percentile was 1,085 mg/day (P90, 1 year). Mean calcium intakes for the entire sample and for the highest percentiles of consumption in the only study (Finland) which considered food and food supplements together were within these ranges.

2.2.3. Children (generally between 1 and 14 years)

For young children (0-3 years), mean calcium intakes from food were between 664 mg/day (Italy, 0-<3 years) and 1,024 mg/day (Greece, 1-5 years). Values for the high percentiles of calcium intake

⁴ Regulation (EC) No 1925/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 December 2006 on the addition of vitamins and minerals and of certain other substances to foods. OJ L 404, 30.12.2006, p. 26-38.

⁵ Directive 2002/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 June 2002 on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to food supplements. OJ L 183, 12.7.2002, p. 51-57.

were between 1,070 mg/day (Italy, P95, 0-3 years, including fortified food) and 1,392 mg/day (Greece, P90, 1-5 years). Mean calcium intakes for the entire sample and for the highest percentiles of consumption in the surveys considering food and supplements together were within these ranges.

For older children (about 3-14 years) mean calcium intakes from food were between 804 mg/day (Ireland, girls, 5-12 years; United Kingdom, 4-10 years) and 1,072 mg/day (Denmark, aged 4-14 years), and median intakes were within that range. Values for the high percentiles of intake were between 1,123 mg/day (Spain, P95, 4-10 years) and 1,776 mg/day (Denmark, P95, 4-14 years). Calcium intakes were slightly higher in food surveys considering food and food supplements together. In these surveys, mean calcium intakes were between 724 mg/day (The Netherlands, 4-6 years) and 1,103 mg/day (Finland, boys, 6 years), and median intakes were within that range. Values for the high percentiles of intake varied between 1,151 mg/day (Spain, P95, 4-10 years, including fortified food) and 1,623 mg/day (The Netherlands, P95, boys, 9-13 years).

2.2.4. Adolescents (generally between 10 and 18 years)

Mean calcium intakes from food varied from 734 mg/day (Ireland, girls, 13-17 years) to 1,337 mg/day (Germany, 12-17 years). The two available median values were within that range. Values for the high percentiles of intake varied between 1,231 mg/day (Spain, P95, 11-17 years) and 2,400 mg/day (Germany, P95, 12-17 years).

Mean calcium intakes from food and supplements combined were between 786 mg/day (United Kingdom, 11-18 years) and 1,396 mg/day (Germany, 12-17 years, including fortified food). Available median intakes were within that range. The values for the high percentiles varied between 1,267 mg/day (Spain, P95, 11-17 years, including fortified food) and 2,515 mg/day (P95, Germany, 12-17 years, including fortified food).

3. Hazard identification

3.1. Calcium physiology and homeostasis

Calcium homeostasis is under endocrine and genetic control. Systemic and local factors regulate intestinal absorption, influx and efflux from bone, and calcium excretion and re-absorption by the kidney. Because of this regulatory network, there is no biomarker for calcium status.

3.1.1. Serum calcium and its regulation

Calcium is present in the blood in three different forms: as free Ca^{2+} ions, bound to protein (about 45 %), and complexed to citrate, phosphate, sulphate and carbonate (about 10 %). Calcium in the blood (and in extracellular fluid) is kept constant at 2.5 mmol/L (range 2.25-2.6 mmol/L), but it is ionised calcium (between 1.1-1.4 mmol/L) which is controlled by the interrelated action of three hormones, namely parathyroid hormone (PTH), 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol (1,25-(OH)₂-D) and calcitonin. The first two determine how much Ca^{2+} moves out of or into the body, whilst PTH determines how Ca^{2+} moves between the extracellular fluid and bone.

A decrease in serum concentrations of Ca^{2+} induces the release of PTH via the calcium-sensing receptor (CaSR) which is located on the cell surface of the parathyroid glands. The PTH stimulates 1,25-(OH)₂-D synthesis in the kidney, bone resorption, and renal re-absorption of calcium (Perez et al., 2008). Synthesis of 1,25-(OH)₂-D is also stimulated by low serum phosphorus concentrations and decreases with high phosphorus concentrations. An increase in serum concentrations of Ca^{2+} inhibits PTH secretion via the CaSR and 1,25-(OH)₂-D synthesis, and stimulates calcitonin secretion by the parafollicular C cells of the thyroid gland. Other locations of the CaSR include the intestine, kidney,

thyroid gland, lung, brain, skin, bone marrow, and osteoblasts. According to population-based genome-wide association studies, individual serum calcium concentrations within the normal range are influenced by some single-nucleotide polymorphisms of the CaSR gene (O'Seaghdha et al., 2010; Riccardi and Brown, 2010).

Several genetic disorders have been described where this homeostatic regulation is disturbed and hypercalcaemia results. The latter is considered to be a consequence of either due to loss-of-function mutations of CYP24A1 which encodes 25-hydroxyvitamin D 24-hydroxylase leading to idiopathic infantile hypercalcaemia (OMIM 143880), or inactivating mutations of the CaSR gene (Schlingmann et al., 2011). Such mutations can result in either neonatal severe primary hyperparathyroidism (OMIM 239200) or familial hypocalciuric hypercalcaemia (OMIM 145980). Rarely, inactivating auto-antibodies against CaSR cause hypocalciuric hypercalcaemia (Riccardi and Brown, 2010). Activating mutations of the CaSR gene can be the cause of autosomal dominant hypoparathyroidism (OMIM 601298) with hypocalcaemia and hypercalciuria, or of the Bartter syndrome type V.

Hypercalcaemia is defined by serum calcium concentrations >2.75 mmol/L (11 mg/dL). Values used for the diagnosis of hypercalcaemia may change across laboratories and will be defined in this Opinion according to the cut-off selected by the authors in each individual study. The most common causes of hypercalcaemia include malignant tumours, hyperparathyroidism of different aetiology, and less frequently excessive calcium and/or vitamin D intakes. Clinical symptoms of persistent hypercalcaemia are fatigue, muscular weakness, anorexia, nausea, vomiting, constipation, tachycardic arrhythmia, soft tissue calcification, failure to thrive and weight loss. Hypercalcaemia can lead to hypercalciuria when the renal capacity of calcium re-absorption is exceeded, and to renal concentration defects resulting in polyuria through activation of the renal CaSR.

Consequences of severe chronic hypercalcaemia are nephrolithiasis and impairment of kidney function, resulting in loss of the concentrating ability of the kidney (i.e., a decrease in salt and water reabsorption), and in volume and salt depletion. Chronic hypercalcaemia may also lead to calcification of soft tissues (e.g., nephrocalcinosis and vascular calcification), particularly when phosphorus concentrations in the blood are also high, as in renal insufficiency. The age-related decrease in urinary calcium excretion and renal function increases the sensitivity of older people to excess calcium intakes.

3.1.2. Calcium absorption in the intestine

Calcium must be in a soluble form or bound to soluble organic molecules to be absorbable. Depending on solubility, chemical form and other factors of the food, the fractional absorption of dietary calcium in adults is around 25 % (range 10 to 40 %). Fractional absorption decreases with high calcium content of diets and increases with low-calcium diets. This adaptation is modulated by PTH and 1,25-(OH)₂-D in response to lower or higher serum calcium concentrations. Fractional calcium absorption is highest (up to 60%) in infancy (Abrams et al., 1997), declines thereafter to rise again before puberty, and declines after puberty to the adult value of 25 %. During pregnancy calcium absorption is twice as high (Moser-Veillon et al., 2001). Dietary factors also modulate calcium absorption. Most calcium salts used in fortified foods or dietary supplements are absorbed to a similar extent as calcium from dairy foods. A difference in the kinetics of calcium taken as a supplement and calcium taken with food is manifested in earlier and higher rises of serum calcium with supplemental calcium than with calcium ingested with food, whilst the total amount of calcium absorbed may be enhanced with food (Heaney et al., 1989). Significant differences in the time course of rises in serum calcium and reactive decreases in serum PTH concentrations following the consumption of different calcium salts (formate >> citrate > carbonate) in the fasting state have been observed (Hanzlik et al., 2005). The clinical significance with respect to calcium uptake into bone and excretion of excess calcium into urine is not clear. Ionised calcium in serum following the ingestion of 1,000 mg of calcium as a supplement just before a meal by healthy subjects rose in 20 of 40 trials above the upper limit of normal (specified as 1.28 mmol/L) within two to four hours, and was accompanied by a significant increase in calcium excretion in the urine and by an increase of the calcium/creatinine ratio by up to 0.13 (Reid et al., 1986). This finding indicates that rapidly absorbed calcium can transitorily lead to increased concentrations of serum and urinary calcium. The bulk of unabsorbed calcium forms complexes with bile acids, free fatty acids, oxalic acid and phytic acid, and excreted in the faeces (Heaney, 2002).

There are two main mechanisms for calcium transport in the intestine: an active transcellular process and a passive paracellular process. Both are regulated by hormones, nutrients and other factors.

Active transcellular transport in the small intestine is saturable and regulated by dietary intake and the needs of the body. The efficiency of this transport improves with diets low in calcium and in situations of increased need for calcium (e.g. growth, pregnancy and lactation), and it decreases with age. Regulation of the uptake of calcium ions (Ca²⁺) at the apical side of the epithelium, and the release at the basolateral membrane, involves epithelial Ca²⁺ channels TRPV5 and TRPV6 (which are also expressed in the kidney and other organs), calbindins, the plasma-membrane Ca-ATPase (PMCA), and the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX1), whose activation and/or expression is under the control of 1,25-(OH)₂-D by binding to the vitamin D receptor (VDR).

Passive para-cellular diffusion through the tight junctions of the intestinal epithelium, particularly of the jejunum and ileum, follows down an electrochemical gradient together with water, sodium and glucose, which is determined by the concentration of soluble calcium in the gut lumen. Passive para-cellular diffusion becomes important when dietary calcium is high and the trans-cellular pathway is down-regulated. This process is independent of age (Bronner, 1992).

3.1.3. Renal excretion and re-absorption of calcium

The majority of calcium absorbed is stored in the skeleton. Excess of absorbed calcium is excreted in urine, faeces and sweat. Calcium balance is positive in healthy children, adolescents and young adults before bone growth and bone modelling cease. Renal calcium excretion is the net result of glomerular filtration and tubular passive (collecting duct) or active (proximal tubule, loop of Henle, distal tubule) reabsorption (normal over 98 % of the filtered load). Active transport is under the control of PTH, calcitonin and 1,25-(OH)₂-D, the levels of which are set via the CaSR by the calcium concentrations in extracellular fluid (Hoenderop et al., 2002). Average 24-h excretion of calcium is 40 mg in young children, 80 mg in prepubertal children and reaches about 150-200 mg in healthy adults. Small changes in the levels of Ca²⁺ which is filtrated into the urine can lead to substantial changes in urinary calcium. Below a serum calcium concentrations of 2 mmol/L, little (if any) calcium is excreted in the urine (<30 mg/24 h). The maximum amount of calcium which can be excreted by healthy humans is about 1,000 mg/24 h. Higher amounts are associated with the risk of calcium deposition in the renal tissue or with the formation of kidney stones because urine is supersaturated with calcium and phosphate. Stone formation and renal calcification are enhanced by an alkaline environment.

Urinary calcium excretion is increased by dietary sodium intake (30 to 40 mg of calcium excreted per every two grams of dietary sodium) (Matkovic et al., 1995) and in chronic metabolic acidosis (Bushinsky, 2001). Calcium excretion rises with excess dietary protein intake (by 0.5 mg for each gram of dietary protein, when intake is >47 g/day) (Walker and Linkswiler, 1972; Whiting et al., 1998).

Hypercalciuria is defined by a calcium excretion >0.3 mg/mg creatinine in 24-hour urine of adults, by a calcium excretion >250 mg/day in women and >275-300 mg/day in men, or by a calcium excretion >4 mg/kg bw/day for both men and women. Calcium/creatinine ratios in urine are higher in infancy and decrease with age. In randomly collected urine samples, calcium/creatinine ratios of 0.9, 0.6, 0.42 and 0.22 have been reported for ages <7 months, 7-18 months, 19 months to 6 years, and adults,



respectively (Sargent et al., 1993). Calcium/creatinine ratios may differ somewhat in different populations because of differences in dietary habits, sunshine exposure, drinking water composition and ethnicity. An increase in the calcium/creatinine ratio in a random urine sample can be an incidental occurrence only.

Chronic hypercalciuria may be the consequence of increased intestinal absorption of calcium (absorptive) or of decreased renal calcium reabsorption (resorptive). Causes of chronic hypercalciuria include excessive calcium intake (without accompanying hypercalcaemia), excessive vitamin D intake, hyperparathyroidism, hyperthyroidism, renal tubular acidosis, sarcoidosis or malignant tumors. Idiopathic (primary) hypercalciuria is characterised by the lack of concomitant hypercalcaemia. Pregnant women are often hypercalciuric from the 12th gestational week onwards even with "normal" calcium intakes. The hypercalciuria results from the doubling of intestinal calcium absorption in early pregnancy, which leads to positive calcium balance (Heaney and Skillman, 1971).

Persistent hypercalciuria is associated with decreased bone mineral density and higher risk of kidney stone formation, particularly in subjects with idiopathic hypercalciuria (Audran et al., 1991; Bataille et al., 1991). Kidney stones affect more than 5 % of the population in Europe, and up to 20-40 % of patients with calcium containing stones (about 80 % of kidney stones) have idiopathic hypercalciuria. As stones form in urine that is supersaturated, high concentrations of calcium (and oxalate) in urine, rather than the total amount of calcium excreted, increase the risk of nephrolithiasis (kidney stones). Other dietary risk factors for nephrolithiasis include low fluid intakes and high intakes of protein, salt, sucrose, alcohol and oxalate. Pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of kidney stone formation.

3.2. Adverse effects of excess calcium intake

A number of potential adverse effects of excessive calcium intakes have been proposed. These include hypercalciuria, deterioration of kidney function, kidney stone formation, the milk-alkali syndrome (MAS), vascular calcification, increased risk of cardiovascular disease and increased risk of prostate cancer (IoM, 2011).

3.2.1. Milk-alkali syndrome/calcium-alkali-syndrome

The adverse effects of combined therapy for peptic ulcers with milk and absorbable antacids (mostly sodium bicarbonate or calcium carbonate) were named collectively MAS (Burnett et al., 1949; Cope, 1936). Milk-alkali syndrome is characterised by metabolic alkalosis and hypercalcaemia with dehydration, renal failure, nephrocalcinosis and nephrolithiasis in variable combinations and severity. The SCF (2003) compiled case reports from 82 patients (24-95 years) with MAS, in which total calcium intakes were generally inadequately documented but reported to range between 400 and 23,000 mg/day. Milk-alkali syndrome was not observed in the course of a number of intervention studies which involved between 11 and 2,295 individuals (children, pregnant and pre- or perimenopausal women, elderly subjects), tested the effects of calcium supplements (500 to 2,000 mg/day) on different outcomes, and lasted between 12 weeks to four years (SCF, 2003).

Since then the therapy including milk for peptic ulcers has become obsolete but the syndrome has been increasingly observed with high intakes of supplemental calcium carbonate and MAS has been re-named calcium-alkali-syndrome (CAS) (Patel and Goldfarb, 2010). On the basis of 14 cases (2004-2010) reporting elevated serum calcium (2.64-6.43 mmol/L) and creatinine concentrations in males and females (35-81 years) consuming calcium carbonate at doses >1,000-44,000 mg/day, the IoM (2011) concluded that supplemental intakes of calcium carbonate \geq 3,000 mg/day were hazardous. Duration of supplementation was only reported in seven cases (from weeks to 19 years).

Extensive calcification of renal convoluted tubular cells and the tubular lamina have been described in kidney biopsies of patients with MAS or CAS, and which in severe cases were associated with interstitial fibrosis, areas of inflammatory changes and peri-glomerular fibrosis. The extent of calcium deposition was proportional to renal dysfunction. Calcium deposits in the cornea and conjunctiva, and less commonly in peri-articular tissue, subcutaneous tissue, the central nervous system, liver, adrenal glands, bone and lungs, have also been observed in chronic cases of MAS (Medarov, 2009).

The Panel notes that supplemental alkaline calcium intakes at doses >1,000 mg/day may increase the risk of CAS, but these case reports do not allow an estimation the amount of calcium or the duration of the treatment at which the risk increases.

A decrease in calcium excretion or in kidney function (e.g. in old age), an increase in calcium re-absorption (e.g. thiazide diuretics), or conditions leading to metabolic alkalosis (e.g. hyperemesis in pregnancy or bulimia) are risk factors for developing CAS when individuals are taking alkaline calcium supplements (Medarov, 2009).

3.2.2. Hypercalciuria, kidney function and kidney stones

3.2.2.1. Adults

The SCF (2003) reported on a higher frequency (compared to placebo) of incidental hypercalciuria (>350 mg/day) in post-menopausal women consuming calcium supplements (1,600 mg/day), in addition to dietary calcium intakes of about 800 mg/day, for four years. No subject receiving calcium supplements developed kidney stones, nephrocalcinosis or a reduction in glomerular filtration rate (Riggs et al., 1998). A trend for an increase in serum creatinine (by 1.2 μ mol/L) with total calcium intakes of 2-3 g/day had been observed in a study involving 130 peri-menopausal women (Elders et al., 1994), whereas no effect was reported in 46 women aged 50-70 years at comparable calcium intakes (Schaafsma et al., 2002). It was unclear whether compromised glomerular function as indicated by increases in serum creatinine could have been attributed to high calcium intakes in the first study.

The effect of different doses of calcium on hypercalciuria and/or kidney function has not been systematically investigated, and no new data have become available since 2003.

The SCF (2003) also reported no increased risk of kidney stones in approximately 5,000 subjects (from different intervention studies) who received between 500 and 2,000 mg calcium/day as a supplement in addition to 300 to 1,800 mg of calcium/day from the diet (total intakes between 1,300 and 3,000 mg calcium/day) during three months to four years. None of these studies were designed to investigate the effects of calcium supplements on kidney stone formation. In two prospective cohort studies with 45,619 men aged between 40 and 75 years followed over four years (the Health Professionals Follow-up Study, Curhan et al., 1993) and 91,731 women aged between 34 and 59 years followed over 12 years (the Nurses' Health Study I, Curhan et al., 1997), without kidney stones at the beginning of the observation period, total calcium intakes >1,050 mg/day in men and >1,100 mg/day in women decreased the risk of kidney stone formation by approximately 35 % compared to lower intakes. In both studies, an inverse association was reported between dietary calcium and risk of kidney stones after adjustment for confounders, whereas calcium supplements in daily amounts below 100 mg increased the risk for stone formation by 20 % in women, with no further increase in the relative risk at higher intakes. In a population-based study which involved 1,309 women aged 20 to 92 years, women with kidney stones (n=44) ingested on average 250 mg less calcium per day than women without stones (840 vs 1,070 mg/day). Calcium supplements were not associated with the risk of kidney stone formation (Sowers et al., 1998).

The SCF (2003) concluded that both observational studies on the relationship between total calcium intake and kidney stone incidence and intervention studies with calcium supplements did not allow an estimation of the calcium intake on a population basis which would promote kidney stone formation.

A longer follow-up of the Health Professionals Study (Taylor et al., 2004) and results from a new Nurses' Health Study II (Curhan et al., 2004) have been published since then. In addition, the IoM (2011) established the UL for adults aged >51 years (LOAEL of 2,000 mg of calcium/day with nephrolithiasis as the critical endpoint) on the basis of a secondary analysis of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) intervention trial (Jackson et al., 2006), for which a subsequent publication has become available (Wallace et al., 2011).

In the 14-year follow-up of the Health Professionals Study (Taylor et al., 2004), self-administered food frequency questionnaires (FFQs) were used to assess dietary (and supplemental) intakes at baseline and every four years in 45,619 men aged 40 to 75 years without history of nephrolithiasis. A total of 1,473 incident symptomatic kidney stones were documented. After adjusting for relevant risk factors, a higher dietary calcium intake was associated with a reduced risk of kidney stones (RR 0.69, 95 % CI 0.56-0.87, for men in the highest *vs.* the lowest quintile of calcium intake) in men aged <60 years. Median calcium intakes from the diet were 503 mg/day in the lowest and 1,194 mg/day in the highest quintiles, respectively. There was no association between dietary calcium and stone formation in men aged \geq 60 years. Supplemental calcium intake was not associated with risk of developing kidney stones.

Similarly, in the eight-year follow-up of the Nurse's Health Study II (Curhan et al., 2004), self-administered food frequency questionnaires were used to assess dietary (and supplemental) intakes at baseline and at four years of follow-up in 96,245 female participants aged 27 to 44 years with no history of kidney stones. A total of 1,223 incident symptomatic kidney stones were documented. After adjusting for relevant risk factors, a higher dietary calcium intake was associated with a reduced risk of kidney stones (RR 0.73, 95 % CI 0.59-0.90, for women in the highest *vs.* the lowest quintile of calcium intake). Calcium intakes from diet were <626 mg/day in the lowest and >1,129 mg/day in the highest quintiles, respectively. Supplemental calcium intake was not associated with risk of kidney stone formation.

The Panel notes that dietary calcium intakes in the range of the most recent dietary recommendations do not promote kidney stone formation on a population basis. The Panel also notes that calcium supplements have not been associated with an increased risk of kidney stones in large prospective cohort studies.

In the Women's Health Initiative trial (Jackson et al., 2006), 36,282 post-menopausal women aged 50 to 79 years (mean age 62 years) were randomly assigned to consume with meals either a placebo (n=18,106) or 1,000 mg of elemental calcium (calcium carbonate) with 10 μ g (400 IU) of vitamin D₃ per day (n=18,176) for an average period of seven years. Hypercalcaemia and kidney stones were among the exclusion criteria. The primary outcomes were bone fractures and measures of bone density. Subjects were allowed to continue the use of personal supplements up to 1,000 mg of calcium and up to 12.5 µg of vitamin D per day. Mean baseline intake (diet and non-trial supplements) of calcium was approximately 1,150 mg/day, and mean baseline intake of vitamin D was about 9 µg/day. About 40 % of the subjects consumed >1,200 mg calcium/day at baseline and 29 % consumed personal supplements with >500 mg calcium daily. Compliance (≥80 % of the assigned study supplements) ranged from 60 % to 63 % during the first three years of follow-up, with an additional 13 % to 21 % of the participants taking at least half of their study pills. At the end of the trial, 76 % of the women were still taking the study supplements, of which 59 % were compliant. Dietary calcium intake during the trial remained stable, but intake from supplements increased by 100 mg/day in both groups. Supplementation with calcium and vitamin D resulted in an increased risk (17%) of selfreported clinically diagnosed kidney stones. Kidney stones were reported by 449 women in the supplemented group, as compared to 381 women in the placebo group (hazard ratio, 1.17; 95 %

CI 1.02-1.34). The Panel notes that although excluded by protocol design, 161 participants in the active arm and 172 in the placebo arm had a self-reported history of urinary tract stones and were included in the intention-to-treat analysis. It is unclear whether (and the extent to which) women with history of kidney stone formation contributed to the cases in each group. In a further analysis of the same study (Wallace et al., 2011), neither total calcium intake nor the use of calcium supplements at baseline were associated with the risk of kidney stones. The risk of kidney stones was not significantly different between the treatment and placebo groups when only subjects compliant with the study treatments were considered (hazard ratio: 1.21; 95 % CI 0.98-1.34). Confirmation of diagnosis upon hospital admission occurred in a small proportion of women (35 cases in each group) and was not significantly different between groups. The Panel notes that this study did not assess the relationship between dietary, supplemental (sum of both personal and trial supplements) or total calcium intakes in relation to the risk of kidney stone formation, but rather the effect of an additional amount of calcium (and vitamin D) over widely variable baseline calcium intakes from food and personal supplements (from <400 mg/day to >1,490 mg/day), and this additional amount of calcium was unrelated to the risk of developing kidney stones. The Panel also notes that additional calcium (and vitamin D) supplementation did not increase the risk of self-reported kidney stones in subjects who complied with the study treatment, or the proportion of women with objective diagnosis of kidney stones requiring hospital admission. The Panel considers that this study does not provide evidence for an increased risk of kidney stones which could be attributed to high calcium intakes.

The Panel notes that calcium intakes up to about 2,400 mg/day have not been associated with an increased risk of chronic hypercalciuria or impaired kidney function, and that calcium intakes up to 3,000 mg/day have not been associated with an increased risk of nepholithiasis in the general adult population.

3.2.2.2. Infants

One intervention study assessed calcium excretion in urine and renal function in relation to calcium intakes in infants. The formation of kidney stones in infants is rare.

A double-blind RCT (Dalton et al., 1997; Sargent et al., 1999) was performed to investigate the efficacy of an iron-fortified (12.8 mg/L) cow's milk-based formula with added calcium glycerophosphate (1,800 mg calcium/L, 1,390 mg phosphorus/L) vs. the same (control) formula without added calcium and phosphate (calcium 465 mg/L and phosphorus 317 mg/L) on the prevention of lead absorption in infants. The effects of the study formulas on calcium and iron metabolism were also assessed among other indicators of safety. Eligibility was tested pre-randomisation in 314 formula-fed healthy infants who consumed the test formula during a one-month run-in phase. Three infants developed hypercalciuria (calcium/creatinine >0.8 mg/mg) and were excluded from randomisation for this reason. A total of 103 eligible infants aged 3.5-6.0 months were randomised to consume either formula for nine months. Blood samples were obtained at baseline and at four and nine months, and urine samples at baseline, one, two, four, six and nine months for calcium and creatinine analysis. At the end of the intervention the mean age of the children was 14 months. Eleven children dropped out in each of the study groups for various reasons. Calcium intake from formula was five times higher in the intervention group (n=41) than in controls (n=40) at baseline and at four and nine months (1,740±450, 1,710±460 and 1,560±700 mg/day vs 480±90, 400±130 and 340±173 mg/day, respectively). Serum calcium concentrations did not differ between groups. One child in the control formula group had a serum calcium concentration >2.72 mmol/L after four months which returned to normal after nine months. There were no significant differences in urinary calcium/creatinine ratios between groups at baseline, or at four or nine months. Incidental hypercalciuria was observed in five infants in each group, which only persisted in a repeat sample in one subject of each group. Haematuria was not observed in any subject.



The Panel notes that in one small study, dietary calcium intakes up to about 1,750 mg/day for nine months did not increase the risk of hypercalcaemia, clinically significant hypercalciuria, or symptoms of kidney stones in infants.

3.2.2.3. Children and adolescents

In 2003, the SCF (2003) noted that no adverse effects of calcium citrate-malate supplements (500 to 1,000 mg calcium over 1.5 to 3 years) or of extra dairy foods or foods fortified with milk extracts (700 to 820 mg/day extra calcium over one year) were reported in 217 children (from five intervention studies) between 6 and 14 years and between 6.6 and 11 years, respectively, in comparison to non-supplemented controls. Mean calcium intakes from diet in groups receiving calcium supplements were about 900-1,000 mg/day. The SCF considered these data as insufficient to derive a UL for children or adolescents.

In a double-blind RCT aimed at investigating the role of calcium supplementation on lead poisoning, 88 "moderately poisoned" children aged 1-6 years were randomised to consume calcium (dose adjusted to reach 1,800 mg/day from food and supplements) or placebo for three months. Data from 67 children were available for analysis (35 in the calcium group). Calcium intake at enrolment was 1,108±465 mg and 973±409 mg for the placebo controls and supplemented groups, respectively. Urinary calcium/creatinine ratios did not differ between children in the intervention (total calcium intake of 1,701±121 mg /day) and control (1,012±454 mg Ca/day) groups, and were 0.1 ± 0.1 throughout the study. Haematuria was not observed (Markowitz et al., 2004).

The Panel notes that, in one small study of short duration, calcium intakes of about 1,800 mg/day for three months did not affect renal function in children aged 1-6 years. No new data are available for adolescents.

3.2.3. Risk of cardiovascular disease

Chronic hypercalcaemia can lead to calcification of soft tissues, particularly if phosphorus levels are also high, but no relationship between calcium intake and the occurrence of nephrocalcinosis or calcification of vascular tissue has been established in humans except in the presence of decreased kidney function. Coronary artery calcification has been described in patients with renal insufficiency on dialysis and treated with calcium-containing phosphate binders (Asmus et al., 2005; Block et al., 2005; Goodman et al., 2000; Russo et al., 2007), but not in healthy subjects.

It has been hypothesised that excess calcium intakes leading to chronic hypercalcaemia could increase the risk of cardiovascular events through arterial calcification. Arterial calcification has been associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in men and women in a number of prospective cohort studies (Jacobs et al., 2010; Levitzky et al., 2008; Wilson et al., 2001; Wong et al., 2009).

Few studies have investigated the relationship between calcium intake and vascular calcification in healthy subjects and none of these was designed for that purpose.

In a RCT trial of two years duration in 163 healthy men (age 57 ± 10 years), no difference in calcification of the coronary arteries or the abdominal aorta assessed by computed tomography (CT) was observed between subjects on calcium supplements (1,200 mg/day) and subjects on placebo (Van Pelt et al., 2009). Calcium intakes from diet were not reported.

In contrast, in a retrospective analysis of a two-year RCT of similar size which investigated the effect of supplemental calcium (1,000 mg/day) and vitamin D_3 (20 µg/day) given as fortified milk (*vs.* no supplemental milk) on bone mass in 167 men >50 years of age (Daly et al., 2006), men with

calcification of the abdominal aorta measured by CT at baseline and receiving the fortified milk showed a significantly greater progression of aortic calcification than controls (Daly et al., 2006). Baseline mean dietary calcium intake was about 900 mg/day and serum 25(OH)D was 75 nmol/L.

In the Epidemiology of Coronary Artery Calcification study conducted between 1991 and 2008 (Bhakta et al., 2009), 1,376 randomly selected asymptomatic adults of all ages were repeatedly examined by electron beam computed tomography for coronary artery calcification (CAC) or aortic valve calcification (AVC). A retrospective analysis was performed on the subgroup of 257 participants (144 female) >60 years who had CAC or AVC at baseline and at least one follow-up measurement. None of the males and only 25 of the 144 female subjects reported taking calcium supplements (500-2,000 mg/day). The CAC and AVC scores at baseline or their progression rates over time (mean follow-up 3.7 ± 0.9 years) were not significantly different between calcium supplement female users and non-users. The Panel notes that this study may have been underpowered for the CAC outcome.

The Panel notes that the data available on the relationship between calcium intake and risk of vascular calcification in humans are inconsistent.

A number of large prospective cohort studies have found a positive association between serum calcium concentrations and increased risk of myocardial infarction, stroke or death in the general adult population and in patients with coronary artery disease (Foley et al., 2008; Grandi et al., 2012; Jorde et al., 1999; Lind et al., 1997). However, these studies do not allow conclusions to be drawn on the relationship between dietary calcium intakes and cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk because calcium intakes were not reported.

A systematic review (Chung et al., 2009) which investigated the relationship between calcium intakes (food and supplements) and incidence of cardiovascular (CV) disease (i.e., total, fatal and non-fatal CV events; total, fatal and non-fatal myocardial infarction and stroke) identified ten longitudinal cohort studies (Al-Delaimy et al., 2003; Ascherio et al., 1998; Bostick et al., 1999; Iso et al., 1999; Larsson et al., 2008; Marniemi et al., 2005; Umesawa et al., 2006; 2008; Van der Vijver et al., 1992; Weng et al., 2008), one nested case-control study (Ross et al., 1997), and no RCTs which had evaluated such a relationship. Except for two studies with a sample size of 755 (Marniemi et al., 2005) and 1,340 (Van der Vijver et al., 1992) subjects, the cohorts included >17,700 and up to about 44,000 subjects. Baseline calcium intakes were assessed by FFQs in all studies and were analysed as predictors of long-term cardiovascular outcomes. Calcium intake within the studied populations varied widely across studies. Mean intakes in the lowest and highest quintiles ranged from about 250 and 667 mg/day in the Japan Collaborative Cohort (JACC) Study (Umesawa et al., 2006) to 876 and 1,916 mg/day in a Finnish male cohort (Larsson et al., 2008). Calcium intakes in studies on Asian populations were generally low (Umesawa et al., 2006; 2008; Weng et al., 2008). Two studies addressed CV death in men and women separately with follow-ups of 9 and 28 years (Umesawa et al., 2006; Van der Vijver et al., 1992); three studies assessed cardiac events (fatal and non fatal combined) either in both sexes together or in men with follow-ups of 10-13 years (Al-Delaimy et al., 2003; Marniemi et al., 2005; Umesawa et al., 2008); cardiac death was analysed in four studies, separately in men and women, at 8, 9, 12 or 28 years of follow-up (Al-Delaimy et al., 2003; Bostick et al., 1999; Umesawa et al., 2008; Van der Vijver et al., 1992), and non-fatal cardiac events in one study in men with 12 years of follow-up (Al-Delaimy et al., 2003); six studies assessed total incidence of stroke in men, women, or both sexes combined with follow-ups of 8-14 years (Ascherio et al., 1998; Iso et al., 1999; Larsson et al., 2008; Marniemi et al., 2005; Umesawa et al., 2008; Weng et al., 2008); and two studies addressed fatal stroke in men and women separately with follow-ups of 10 and 13 years (Ross et al., 1997; Umesawa et al., 2006). One study (the Iowa Women's Health Study, Bostick et al., 1999) found a significant association between calcium intake <696 mg/day and higher risk of ischemic heart disease death compared to an intake of >1,425 mg calcium/day in white women aged 55 to 69 years. A Japanese (Umesawa et al., 2008) and a Taiwanese (Weng et al., 2008) study in men and women (40-79 years and \geq 40 years, respectively) found progressively lower risks for stroke in subjects in higher quintiles of calcium intake in populations with relatively low calcium intakes, whereas one study in women (32-57 years) found significantly higher stroke risk in subjects with calcium intake <500 mg/day compared with women in the next two higher quintiles (Iso et al., 1999). No other associations between calcium intake (total, from food or from supplements) and risk of CVD (any outcome, men, women, or both sexes combined) were reported.

Three additional prospective cohort studies on the relationship between calcium intakes and risk of CVD have been published.

In the Kuopio Osteoporosis Risk Factor and Prevention Study (Pentti et al., 2009), 10,555 females aged 52-62 years without coronary heart disease (CHD) in 1994 were followed-up for seven years. Information about health events and supplemental calcium intake was obtained at baseline via questionnaires, whereas dietary calcium intakes were calculated from liquid milk products and cheese. Dietary calcium intakes in the 2,723 (25.8 %) users and the 7,832 non-users of calcium or calcium plus vitamin D supplements according to the 1994 questionnaire were 773±351 mg/day and 818±404 mg/day, respectively. In age-adjusted analysis of the entire cohort, the hazard ratio (HR) for CHD was 1.14 (95 % CI 0.94–1.39) in calcium supplement users compared with non-users. The multivariate adjusted HR for supplement users compared to non users with respect to CHD was 1.24 (95 % CI 1.02-1.52) for the total sample and 1.26 (95 % CI 1.01-1.57) for postmenopausal women. The Panel notes that calcium intakes from supplements were not reported.

In the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study (Li et al., 2012), 23,980 participants aged 35-64 years with no history of major CV events were followed up for about 11 years. Dietary calcium was assessed at baseline using a FFQ, whereas use of dietary supplements (including calcium) was checked by questionnaires at baseline and regularly during follow-up. Outcome measures were incidence of myocardial infarction, incidence of stroke, and CVD mortality. A total of 354 cases of myocardial infarction, 260 cases of stroke and 267 cases of CV death were documented during follow-up. Between 3 and 4 % of participants reported use of calcium supplements (either alone or in combination with other vitamins and minerals), but doses of supplemental calcium were not reported. Mean dietary calcium intake at baseline was 766 mg/day in supplement non-users and about 820 mg/day in supplement users. After adjustment for potential confounders, none of the linear trend tests were statistically significant. A statistically significant inverse association was only found between total dietary calcium intake and risk of myocardial infarction for the third (820 mg/day) quartile compared with the lowest (513 mg/day) quartile (HR 0.69; 95 % CI 0.50-0.94) in both sexes combined. The association was also significant for women (HR 0.43; 95 % CI 0.22-0.82), but not for men. Users of calcium supplements had a statistically significantly increased risk of myocardial infarction in comparison with non-users of any supplements (HR 1.86; 95 % CI 1.17-2.96). This association was more pronounced for calcium-only supplement users (HR 2.39; 95 % CI 1.12-5.12), and related to most recent but not to cumulative calcium supplementation. No significant association was found between calcium supplementation and risk of either stroke or overall CVD mortality.

In a subsequent publication (Mursu et al., 2011) of the Iowa Women's Health Study (Bostick et al., 1999), 38,772 women aged 55-69 years were followed-up for 19 years. Diet was assessed using a FFQ in 1986 and 2004, and the use of supplemental calcium by a specific questionnaire in 1986, 1987, 1989, 1992, 1997 and 2004. After adjustment for confounders, use of calcium-containing supplements was associated with a significantly lower rate of total mortality (HR 0.91; 95 % CI 0.88-0.94) and cardiovascular mortality (HR 0.87; 95 % CI 0.82-0.92). The inverse association between supplemental calcium and total mortality was not significant at the highest doses of supplemental calcium (>1,300 mg calcium/day). The Panel notes that dietary (and thus total) calcium intakes were not reported in this follow-up analysis.



The Panel notes that calcium intakes up to about 2,000 mg/day from food and supplements have not generally been associated with an increased risk of CV events in a high number of large prospective cohort studies.

No RCTs specifically designed to investigate the effects of supplemental calcium on CVD risk are available.

In a systematic review and meta-analysis (Wang et al., 2010), four RCTs which reported on the occurrence of CV events with calcium supplementation versus placebo were identified (Baron et al., 1999; Bolland et al., 2008; Prince et al., 2006; Reid et al., 2008). The study by Baron et al., (1999) reported similar proportions of subjects hospitalised for cardiac disease (10 % vs. 11 %) or stroke (2 % vs. 3 %) among those who received 1,200 mg/day of supplemental calcium (n=464) and those who received placebo (n=466) for four years (mean calcium intakes from diet 880 mg/day). Prince et al., (2006) also found similar rates of CHD in women receiving supplemental calcium (n=730) or placebo (n=730) for five years (mean calcium intakes from diet 915 mg/day). Consumption of calcium supplements (1,000 mg/day; n=732) for five years did not increase the risk of myocardial infarction, stroke or composite CVD endpoint (myocardial infarction, stroke, sudden death) in post-menopausal women (mean calcium intakes from diet 860 mg/day) when unreported events obtained from a national database were included in the analysis (Bolland et al., 2008). One trial in men of two years duration found significantly more self-reported composite CV events in the calcium supplemented group (600 mg or 1,200 mg/day; n=216) than in the placebo group (n=107) (Reid et al., 2008). The Panel notes the low number of cases reported in each group (three in the calcium and one in the placebo groups). The pooled relative risk of CVD for all trials combined was 1.14 (95 % CI 0.92-1.41). The Panel considers that this meta-analysis does not show an increased risk of CV events with calcium supplements of 600 to 1.200 mg/day consumed for two to five years in addition to dietary calcium intakes of about 900 mg/day.

A systematic review and meta-analysis (Bolland et al., 2010) considered 11 double-blind RCTs (Baron et al., 1999; Bolland et al., 2008; Bonithon-Kopp et al., 2000; Bonnick et al., 2007; Dawson-Hughes et al., 1990; Grant et al., 2005; Lappe et al., 2007; Lappe and Heaney, 2008; Prince et al., 2006; Reid et al., 1993, 1995; Reid et al., 2006; Reid et al., 2008; Riggs et al., 1998) which used calcium supplements at doses \geq 500 mg/day for more than one year in subjects aged \geq 40 years at baseline for the prevention or treatment of osteoporosis or colorectal adenomas. Trials were excluded when calcium plus vitamin D were compared to placebo. The studies included collectively about 12,000 subjects (6,116 in the calcium supplemented groups; 5,805 in the placebo groups) and the outcome measures of interest were myocardial infarction, stroke, sudden death, and death from all causes. Only the four RCTs included in the meta-analysis by Wang et al. (2010) had reported on these outcomes. Baseline age of participants ranged from 56 to 77 years and trial duration from two to five years. Doses of supplemental calcium ranged from 500 to 2,000 mg/day in addition to average dietary calcium intakes of 400-1,240 mg/day. Calcium supplementation did not increase the risk for any outcome in any of the individual studies, or the risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, and sudden death combined, the risk of death, or the risk of stroke in the meta-analyses performed. Allocation to calcium supplementation was associated with an increased risk of myocardial infarction (RR 1.27, 95 % CI 1.01-1.59). One trial (Grant et al., 2005) accounted for 66 % of the subjects and for >50 % of the CV events in the meta-analysis. The compliance rate with the study pills in that study was only 54.5 % (about 45 % in the calcium arms), and the clinical characteristics of participants who did and did not return the completed health questionnaires used for the allocation of events were unknown, which may have introduced bias in between-group comparisons. The Panel notes that cardiovascular events, including myocardial infarction, were not end points in a number of trials but the events were rather attributed on the basis of self-reported health questionnaires and were not verified. The Panel also notes that event frequency and differences in the number of events between the calcium and placebo groups were small, and that the use of multiple end points without adjustment of the level of significance for multiple testing increases the likelihood of chance findings. The Panel considers that



this meta-analysis does not show an increased risk of CV events (myocardial infarction or stroke) with calcium supplements of 500 to 2,000 mg/day consumed for two to five years in addition to dietary calcium intakes of 400-1,240 mg/day.

The same authors (Bolland et al., 2011) updated the above mentioned meta-analysis by including data from two study arms comparing calcium and vitamin D supplements against placebo (Grant et al., 2005; Lappe et al., 2007), and from a sub-sample of subjects participating in the WHI intervention trial (supplementation with calcium and vitamin D versus placebo) described in Section 3.2.2.1. In that study, no effect of calcium (and vitamin D) supplements on confirmed cases of myocardial infarction, stroke, or coronary heart disease death, which were pre-specified secondary efficacy outcomes of the study, had been reported by the authors (Hsia et al., 2007). In subgroup analyses, women with higher total calcium intake (diet plus supplements) at baseline were not at higher risk for coronary events or stroke if assigned to the active calcium/vitamin D group. In the meta-analysis by Bolland et al. (2011), only data from subjects not taking personal supplements at baseline were considered. The Panel notes that the reasons for the selection are unclear, and that subjects were not randomised on the basis of taking personal supplements. The Panel also notes that the additional data considered (supplementation with calcium plus vitamin D against placebo) does not provide information about the risk associated with supplemental calcium intakes per se. The Panel considers that this meta-analysis suffers from the same limitations as the previous meta-analysis by the same authors (Bolland et al., 2010), and that it does not provide additional information about the relationship between calcium intakes and risk of CVD.

The Panel considers that long-term calcium intakes from diet and supplements up to 2,500-3,000 mg/day are not associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease in adults.

3.2.4. Prostate cancer

The majority of epidemiological studies and the few RCTs which have reported cancer as an outcome found an inverse or no association between calcium intakes from food and/or supplements and the risk of cancer (incidence and mortality), with the exception of prostate cancer (Chung et al., 2009; IoM, 2011; WCRF/AICR, 2007).

The report from the World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research (WCRF/AICR, 2007), reviewed nine prospective cohort studies (Baron et al., 2005; Berndt et al., 2002: Chan et al., 2000: Chan et al., 2001: Giovannucci et al., 1998: Laaksonen et al., 2004: Platz et al., 2004; Rodriguez et al., 2003; Schuurman et al., 1999; Tseng et al., 2005), 12 case-control studies (Chan et al., 1998; Du et al., 1997; Hayes et al., 1999; Hodge et al., 2004; Kaul et al., 1987; Key et al., 1997; Ohno et al., 1988; Oishi et al., 1988; Ramon et al., 2000; Tavani et al., 2001; Tavani et al., 2005; Tzonou et al., 1999; Vlajinac et al., 2001; Vlajinac et al., 1997; Walker et al., 2005) and two ecological studies (Boing et al., 1985; Liaw et al., 2003) which investigated the association between calcium intake and risk of prostate cancer. A positive association between calcium intake and risk of prostate cancer was reported in three cohort studies (Chan et al., 2001; Giovannucci et al., 1998; Tseng et al., 2005), one case-control study (Vlajinac et al., 2001) and one ecological study (Boing et al., 1985), whereas no significant association was observed in the remaining studies. An increased risk of advanced/aggressive prostate cancer was also associated with increased intakes of milk and dairy products in one (Giovannucci et al., 1998; 2006) out of the four cohort studies which reported on this outcome. The WCRF/AICR (2007) concluded that there was a "probable" association between diets high in calcium and prostate cancer risk.

Chung et al. (2009) reviewed 12 cohort studies that reported on the association between calcium intake and the risk of prostate cancer (Baron et al., 2005; Chan et al., 2001; Giovannucci et al., 2006; Koh et al., 2006; Kurahashi et al., 2008; Mitrou et al., 2007; Park et al., 2007a; 2007b; Rodriguez et al., 2003; Rohrmann et al., 2007; Schuurman et al., 1999; Tseng et al., 2005). The incidence of prostate cancer in these studies ranged from 0.008 to 0.10. Total calcium intake ranged from



 $<500 \text{ mg/day to} \ge 2,000 \text{ mg/day}$ and the time between dietary assessment and the diagnosis of prostate cancer varied from 1 to 17 years. Seven studies did not find an association between calcium intake and the risk of prostate cancer (Baron et al., 2005; Koh et al., 2006; Kurahashi et al., 2008; Park et al., 2007a; 2007b; Rohrmann et al., 2007; Schuurman et al., 1999), whereas the remaining five studies reported a higher risk associated with higher (*vs.* lower) calcium intakes. The higher and lower calcium intakes ranged from 921 to >2,000 mg and from 455 to 1,000 mg/day, respectively.

One multicentre RCT (Baron et al., 2005) which investigated the efficacy of calcium supplementation in the prevention of colorectal carcinomas also assessed the risk of prostate cancer as a secondary outcome. Men (mean age 61.8 years) received either 1,200 mg of calcium (n=327) or placebo (n=327) daily for four years and were followed for up to 12 years for prostate cancer diagnosis. Dietary calcium intake at baseline was comparable in the two groups (about 800 mg/day). Over the entire study period, the risk for prostate cancer was not significantly different in the calcium group compared to the placebo (rate ratio, 0.83; 95 % CI 0.52–1.32). Total calcium intakes were not associated with prostate cancer risk.

The Panel notes that a number of case-control (one out of 12) and prospective cohort studies (five out of 12, three of which were of good quality) have reported an increased risk of prostate cancer with total calcium intakes of 1,000 to >2,000 mg/day compared to intakes ranging from 500 to <1,000 mg/day. However, the Panel also notes that these studies were uncontrolled for factors other than calcium and which may have been responsible for the effect, and that the only RCT which reported on this outcome showed no effect of calcium supplementation at doses of 1,200 mg/day (up to about 2,000 mg/day of total calcium) on the risk of prostate cancer.

The Panel considers that long-term calcium intakes from diet and supplements above 2,000 mg/day are not associated with an increased risk of prostate cancer.

3.2.5. Interactions between calcium and dietary minerals

Calcium has been shown to interfere with both iron and zinc absorption in short term trials or single-dose experiments. This effect has not been observed in long-term observational and intervention studies at dietary calcium intakes in the range of current recommendations or at supplemental calcium intakes up to 2,000 mg/day in adults (SCF, 2003).

The Panel notes that no new data have become available since 2003 on this outcome.

4. Dose response assessment and derivation of a Tolerable Upper Intake Level

4.1. Adults

The SCF (2003) based the derivation of a UL for calcium on the evidence of different intervention studies of long duration, some of which were placebo controlled, in which total daily calcium intakes of 2,500 mg from both diet and supplements were tolerated without adverse effects. Because of the abundance of data, the application of an uncertainty factor was considered unnecessary. A UL of 2,500 mg of calcium per day from all sources was proposed for adults, and for pregnant and lactating women.

A number of placebo controlled human intervention studies in adults published since then also show that total daily calcium intakes of 2,500 mg from both diet and supplements are tolerated without adverse effects.

The Panel notes that new case reports have become available on consumption of calcium supplements and the CAS/MAS syndrome. However, the Panel considers that no dose-response relationships can be derived from these.

The Panel considers that no relationship has been established between long-term calcium intakes from diet and supplements and increased risk of nephrolithiasis, cardiovascular disease or prostate cancer.

The Panel proposes a UL of 2,500 mg/day of calcium from all sources.

4.2. Pregnant and lactating women

The UL for pregnant and lactating women established by the SCF (2003) was the same as for adults.

The Panel notes that no new data have become available since 2003 for this population subgroup.

The Panel proposes a UL of 2,500 mg/day of calcium from all sources.

4.3. Infants

In 2003, the SCF concluded that the data available were insufficient to establish a UL for infants.

The Panel notes that no new data have become available for this population subgroup since 2003.

The Panel concludes that the data are insufficient to establish a UL for infants.

4.4. Children and adolescents

In 2003, the SCF concluded that the data available were insufficient to establish a UL for children and adolescents.

The Panel notes that calcium intakes of about 1,800 mg/day did not affect renal function in children aged 1-6 years in one small, short-term (three month) RCT (Markowitz et al., 2004). However, the Panel considers that these data are not sufficient for establishing a UL for children or adolescents.

The Panel concludes that the data are insufficient to establish a UL for children or adolescents.

5. Characterisation of the risk

Data from European populations indicate that intakes of calcium in high consumers among adult males can be close to the UL.

Although available data do not allow the setting of a UL for infants, children or adolescents, no risk has been identified with highest current levels of calcium intake in these age groups.

CONCLUSIONS

The Panel proposes a UL for calcium of 2,500 mg for adults, and for pregnant and lactating women. The Panel considers that the available data are insufficient to set a UL for infants, children or adolescents.

Data from European populations indicate that intakes of calcium in high consumers among adult males can be close to the UL. Although available data do not allow the setting of a UL for infants,



children or adolescents, no risk has been identified with highest current levels of calcium intake in these age groups.

REFERENCES

- Abrams SA, Wen J and Stuff JE, 1997. Absorption of calcium, zinc, and iron from breast milk by five- to seven-month-old infants. Pediatric Research, 41, 384-390.
- Al-Delaimy WK, Rimm E, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ and Hu FB, 2003. A prospective study of calcium intake from diet and supplements and risk of ischemic heart disease among men. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 77, 814-818.
- Andersen N, Fagt S, Groth M, Hartkopp H, Møller A, Ovesen L and Warming D, 1996. Danskernes kostvaner 1995. Hovedresultater [The Danish diet 1995. Main results]. Levnedsmiddelstyrelsen, Søborg, Denmark, 298 pp.
- Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Hernan MA, Giovannucci EL, Kawachi I, Stampfer MJ and Willett WC, 1998. Intake of potassium, magnesium, calcium, and fiber and risk of stroke among US men. Circulation, 98, 1198-1204.
- Asmus HG, Braun J, Krause R, Brunkhorst R, Holzer H, Schulz W, Neumayer HH, Raggi P and Bommer J, 2005. Two year comparison of sevelamer and calcium carbonate effects on cardiovascular calcification and bone density. Nephrology, Dialysis, Transplantation, 20, 1653-1661.
- Audran M, Bataille P, Sebert JL, Crouzet G, Auvinet B, Laval-Jeantet MA, Basle MF and Renier JC, 1991. [Bone density in idiopathic hypercalciuria in men. Study by dual photon absorptiometry, Xray computed tomography and histomorphometry]. Revue du Rhumatisme et des Maladies Osteo-Articulaires, 58, 747-750.
- Baron JA, Beach M, Mandel JS, van Stolk RU, Haile RW, Sandler RS, Rothstein R, Summers RW, Snover DC, Beck GJ, Bond JH and Greenberg ER, 1999. Calcium supplements for the prevention of colorectal adenomas. Calcium Polyp Prevention Study Group. New England Journal of Medicine, 340, 101-107.
- Baron JA, Beach M, Wallace K, Grau MV, Sandler RS, Mandel JS, Heber D and Greenberg ER, 2005. Risk of prostate cancer in a randomized clinical trial of calcium supplementation. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 14, 586-589.
- Bataille P, Achard JM, Fournier A, Boudailliez B, Westeel PF, el Esper N, Bergot C, Jans I, Lalau JD, Petit J and et al., 1991. Diet, vitamin D and vertebral mineral density in hypercalciuric calcium stone formers. Kidney International, 39, 1193-1205.
- Bates E, Lennox A, Bates C and Swan G, 2011. National Diet and Nutrition Survey. Headline results from Years 1 and 2 (combined) of the Rolling Programme (2008/2009 2009/2010). A Survey carried out on the behalf of the Food Standards Agency and the Department of Health, 68 pp.
- Becker W and Pearson M, 2002. Riksmaten 1997-1998. Befolkningens kostvanor och näringsintag. Metod- och resultatanalys [Riksmaten 1997-1998. Dietary habits and nutrient intake in Sweden. Benchmarking analysis]. Livsmedelsverket, 201 pp.
- Berndt SI, Carter HB, Landis PK, Tucker KL, Hsieh LJ, Metter EJ, Platz EA and Baltimore Longitudinal Study of A, 2002. Calcium intake and prostate cancer risk in a long-term aging study: the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Urology, 60, 1118-1123.
- Bhakta M, Bruce C, Messika-Zeitoun D, Bielak L, Sheedy PF, Peyser P and Sarano M, 2009. Oral calcium supplements do not affect the progression of aortic valve calcification or coronary artery calcification. Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine, 22, 610-616.



- Block GA, Spiegel DM, Ehrlich J, Mehta R, Lindbergh J, Dreisbach A and Raggi P, 2005. Effects of sevelamer and calcium on coronary artery calcification in patients new to hemodialysis. Kidney International, 68, 1815-1824.
- Boing H, Martinez L, Frentzel-Beyme R and Oltersdorf U, 1985. Regional nutritional pattern and cancer mortality in the Federal Republic of Germany. Nutrition and Cancer, 7, 121-130.
- Bolland MJ, Barber PA, Doughty RN, Mason B, Horne A, Ames R, Gamble GD, Grey A and Reid IR, 2008. Vascular events in healthy older women receiving calcium supplementation: randomised controlled trial. British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition), 336, 262-266.
- Bolland MJ, Avenell A, Baron JA, Grey A, MacLennan GS, Gamble GD and Reid IR, 2010. Effect of calcium supplements on risk of myocardial infarction and cardiovascular events: meta-analysis. British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition), 341, c3691.
- Bolland MJ, Grey A, Avenell A, Gamble GD and Reid IR, 2011. Calcium supplements with or without vitamin D and risk of cardiovascular events: reanalysis of the Women's Health Initiative limited access dataset and meta-analysis. British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition), 342, d2040.
- Bonithon-Kopp C, Kronborg O, Giacosa A, Rath U and Faivre J, 2000. Calcium and fibre supplementation in prevention of colorectal adenoma recurrence: a randomised intervention trial. European Cancer Prevention Organisation Study Group. Lancet, 356, 1300-1306.
- Bonnick S, Broy S, Kaiser F, Teutsch C, Rosenberg E, DeLucca P and Melton M, 2007. Treatment with alendronate plus calcium, alendronate alone, or calcium alone for postmenopausal low bone mineral density. Current Medical Research and Opinion, 23, 1341-1349.
- Bostick RM, Kushi LH, Wu Y, Meyer KA, Sellers TA and Folsom AR, 1999. Relation of calcium, vitamin D, and dairy food intake to ischemic heart disease mortality among postmenopausal women. American Journal of Epidemiology, 149, 151-161.
- Bronner F, 1992. Current concepts of calcium absorption: an overview. Journal of Nutrition, 122, 641-643.
- Burnett CH, Commons RR and et al., 1949. Hypercalcemia without hypercalcuria or hypophosphatemia, calcinosis and renal insufficiency; a syndrome following prolonged intake of milk and alkali. New England Journal of Medicine, 240, 787-794.
- Bushinsky DA, 2001. Acid-base imbalance and the skeleton. European Journal of Nutrition, 40, 238-244.
- Chan JM, Giovannucci E, Andersson SO, Yuen J, Adami HO and Wolk A, 1998. Dairy products, calcium, phosphorous, vitamin D, and risk of prostate cancer (Sweden). Cancer Causes and Control, 9, 559-566.
- Chan JM, Pietinen P, Virtanen M, Malila N, Tangrea J, Albanes D and Virtamo J, 2000. Diet and prostate cancer risk in a cohort of smokers, with a specific focus on calcium and phosphorus (Finland). Cancer Causes and Control, 11, 859-867.
- Chan JM, Stampfer MJ, Ma J, Gann PH, Gaziano JM and Giovannucci EL, 2001. Dairy products, calcium, and prostate cancer risk in the Physicians' Health Study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 74, 549-554.
- Chung M, Balk EM, Brendel M, Ip S, Lau J, Lee J, Lichtenstein A, Patel K, Raman G, Tatsioni A, Terasawa T and Trikalinos TA, 2009. Vitamin D and calcium: a systematic review of health outcomes. Evidence Report / Technological Assess (Full Rep), 1-420.
- Cope CL, 1936. Base changes in the alkalosis produced by the treatment of gastric ulcers with alkalies. Clinical Science, 2, 287-300.



- Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB and Stampfer MJ, 1993. A prospective study of dietary calcium and other nutrients and the risk of symptomatic kidney stones. New England Journal of Medicine, 328, 833-838.
- Curhan GC, Willett WC, Speizer FE, Spiegelman D and Stampfer MJ, 1997. Comparison of dietary calcium with supplemental calcium and other nutrients as factors affecting the risk for kidney stones in women. Annals of Internal Medicine, 126, 497-504.
- Curhan GC, Willett WC, Knight EL and Stampfer MJ, 2004. Dietary factors and the risk of incident kidney stones in younger women: Nurses' Health Study II. Archives of Internal Medicine, 164, 885-891.
- Dalton MA, Sargent JD, O'Connor GT, Olmstead EM and Klein RZ, 1997. Calcium and phosphorus supplementation of iron-fortified infant formula: no effect on iron status of healthy full-term infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 65, 921-926.
- Daly RM, Brown M, Bass S, Kukuljan S and Nowson C, 2006. Calcium- and vitamin D3-fortified milk reduces bone loss at clinically relevant skeletal sites in older men: a 2-year randomized controlled trial. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 21, 397-405.
- Dawson-Hughes B, Dallal GE, Krall EA, Sadowski L, Sahyoun N and Tannenbaum S, 1990. A controlled trial of the effect of calcium supplementation on bone density in postmenopausal women. New England Journal of Medicine, 323, 878-883.
- de Boer EJ, Hulshof K and Doest DT, 2006. Voedselconsumptie van jonge peuters [Food consumption of young children]. TNO report V6269, 37 pp.
- De Vriese S, Huybrechts I, Moreau M and Van Oyen H (Institut scientifique de santé publique,), 2006. Enquête de consommation alimentaire Belge 1 2004. Reports No 2006-014.
- Deharveng G, Charrondiere UR, Slimani N, Southgate DA and Riboli E, 1999. Comparison of nutrients in the food composition tables available in the nine European countries participating in EPIC. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 53, 60-79.
- Du S, Shi L, Zhang H and He S, 1997. [Relationship between dietary nutrients intakes and human prostate cancer]. Wei Sheng Yan Jiu (Journal of Hygiene Research), 26, 122-125.
- Dufour A, Wetzler S, Touvier M, Lioret S, Gioda J, Lafay L, Dubuisson C, Calamassi-Tran G, Kalonji E, Margaritis I and Volatier JL, 2010. Comparison of different maximum safe levels in fortified foods and supplements using a probabilistic risk assessment approach. British Journal of Nutrition, 104, 1848-1857.
- Elders PJ, Lips P, Netelenbos JC, van Ginkel FC, Khoe E, van der Vijgh WJ and van der Stelt PF, 1994. Long-term effect of calcium supplementation on bone loss in perimenopausal women. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 9, 963-970.
- Elmadfa I, Freisling H, Nowak V, Hofstädter D, Hasenegger V, Ferge M, Fröhler M, Fritz K, Meyer AL, Putz P, Rust P, Grossgut R, Mischek D, Kiefer I, Schätzer M, Spanblöchel J, Sturtzel B, Wagner K-H, Zilberszac A, Vojir F and Plsek K, 2009. Österreichischer Ernährungsbericht 2008 [Austrian Nutrition Report 2008]. Institut für Ernährungswissenschaften der Universität Wien, Bundesministerium für Gesundheit, 454 pp.
- Enghardt-Barbieri H, Pearson M and Becker W, 2006. Riksmaten Barn 2003. Livsmedels och näringsintag bland barn i Sverige [Riksmaten Children 2003. The food and nutritional intake among children in Sweden]. Livsmedelsverket, 216 pp.
- Flynn A, Hirvonen T, Mensink GB, Ocke MC, Serra-Majem L, Stos K, Szponar L, Tetens I, Turrini A, Fletcher R and Wildemann T, 2009. Intake of selected nutrients from foods, from fortification and from supplements in various European countries. Food and Nutrition Research, 53, Suppl 1, 1-51.



- Foley RN, Collins AJ, Ishani A and Kalra PA, 2008. Calcium-phosphate levels and cardiovascular disease in community-dwelling adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. American Heart Journal, 156, 556-563.
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Wolk A, Ascherio A, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA and Willett WC, 1998. Calcium and fructose intake in relation to risk of prostate cancer. Cancer Research, 58, 442-447.
- Giovannucci E, Liu Y, Stampfer MJ and Willett WC, 2006. A prospective study of calcium intake and incident and fatal prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 15, 203-210.
- Goodman WG, Goldin J, Kuizon BD, Yoon C, Gales B, Sider D, Wang Y, Chung J, Emerick A, Greaser L, Elashoff RM and Salusky IB, 2000. Coronary-artery calcification in young adults with end-stage renal disease who are undergoing dialysis. New England Journal of Medicine, 342, 1478-1483.
- Grandi NC, Brenner H, Hahmann H, Wusten B, Marz W, Rothenbacher D and Breitling LP, 2012. Calcium, phosphate and the risk of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in a population with stable coronary heart disease. Heart, 98, 926-933.
- Grant AM, Avenell A, Campbell MK, McDonald AM, MacLennan GS, McPherson GC, Anderson FH, Cooper C, Francis RM, Donaldson C, Gillespie WJ, Robinson CM, Torgerson DJ, Wallace WA and Group RT, 2005. Oral vitamin D3 and calcium for secondary prevention of low-trauma fractures in elderly people (Randomised Evaluation of Calcium Or vitamin D, RECORD): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet, 365, 1621-1628.
- Guéguen L and Pointillart A, 2000. The bioavailability of dietary calcium. Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 19, 119-136.
- Hanzlik RP, Fowler SC and Fisher DH, 2005. Relative bioavailability of calcium from calcium formate, calcium citrate, and calcium carbonate. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 313, 1217-1222.
- Hayes RB, Ziegler RG, Gridley G, Swanson C, Greenberg RS, Swanson GM, Schoenberg JB, Silverman DT, Brown LM, Pottern LM, Liff J, Schwartz AG, Fraumeni JF, Jr. and Hoover RN, 1999. Dietary factors and risks for prostate cancer among blacks and whites in the United States. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 8, 25-34.
- Heaney RP and Skillman TG, 1971. Calcium metabolism in normal human pregnancy. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 33, 661-670.
- Heaney RP, Recker RR, Stegman MR and Moy AJ, 1989. Calcium absorption in women: relationships to calcium intake, estrogen status, and age. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 4, 469-475.
- Heaney RP, 2002. Protein and calcium: antagonists or synergists? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 75, 609-610.
- Hodge AM, English DR, McCredie MR, Severi G, Boyle P, Hopper JL and Giles GG, 2004. Foods, nutrients and prostate cancer. Cancer Causes and Control, 15, 11-20.
- Hoenderop JG, Nilius B and Bindels RJ, 2002. Molecular mechanism of active Ca2+ reabsorption in the distal nephron. Annual Review of Physiology, 64, 529-549.
- Hsia J, Heiss G, Ren H, Allison M, Dolan NC, Greenland P, Heckbert SR, Johnson KC, Manson JE, Sidney S, Trevisan M and Women's Health Initiative I, 2007. Calcium/vitamin D supplementation and cardiovascular events. Circulation, 115, 846-854.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine), 1997. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium, Phosphorus, Magnesium, Vitamin D, and Fluoride. National Academy Press, Washington D.C., USA, 454 pp.
- IoM (Institute of Medecine), 2011. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. The National Academies Press, Washington D.C., USA, 1115 pp.



- Iso H, Stampfer MJ, Manson JE, Rexrode K, Hennekens CH, Colditz GA, Speizer FE and Willett WC, 1999. Prospective study of calcium, potassium, and magnesium intake and risk of stroke in women. Stroke, 30, 1772-1779.
- IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), 2001. North/South Ireland Food Consumption Survey.
- IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), 2011. National Adult Nutrition Survey.
- IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), a. National Children's Food Survey 2003-2004. Available from: <u>http://www.iuna.net/</u>. Accessed on June 2012.
- IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), b. The National Teens' Food Survey 2005-2006. Available from: <u>http://www.iuna.net/</u>. Accessed on June 2012.
- Jackson RD, LaCroix AZ, Gass M, Wallace RB, Robbins J, Lewis CE, Bassford T, Beresford SA, Black HR, Blanchette P, Bonds DE, Brunner RL, Brzyski RG, Caan B, Cauley JA, Chlebowski RT, Cummings SR, Granek I, Hays J, Heiss G, Hendrix SL, Howard BV, Hsia J, Hubbell FA, Johnson KC, Judd H, Kotchen JM, Kuller LH, Langer RD, Lasser NL, Limacher MC, Ludlam S, Manson JE, Margolis KL, McGowan J, Ockene JK, O'Sullivan MJ, Phillips L, Prentice RL, Sarto GE, Stefanick ML, Van Horn L, Wactawski-Wende J, Whitlock E, Anderson GL, Assaf AR and Barad D, 2006. Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and the risk of fractures. New England Journal of Medicine, 354, 669-683.
- Jacobs PC, Prokop M, van der Graaf Y, Gondrie MJ, Janssen KJ, de Koning HJ, Isgum I, van Klaveren RJ, Oudkerk M, van Ginneken B and Mali WP, 2010. Comparing coronary artery calcium and thoracic aorta calcium for prediction of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events on low-dose non-gated computed tomography in a high-risk population of heavy smokers. Atherosclerosis, 209, 455-462.
- Jorde R, Sundsfjord J, Fitzgerald P and Bonaa KH, 1999. Serum calcium and cardiovascular risk factors and diseases: the Tromso study. Hypertension, 34, 484-490.
- Kaul L, Heshmat MY, Kovi J, Jackson MA, Jackson AG, Jones GW, Edson M, Enterline JP, Worrell RG and Perry SL, 1987. The role of diet in prostate cancer. Nutrition and Cancer, 9, 123-128.
- Key TJ, Silcocks PB, Davey GK, Appleby PN and Bishop DT, 1997. A case-control study of diet and prostate cancer. British Journal of Cancer, 76, 678-687.
- Koh KA, Sesso HD, Paffenbarger RS, Jr. and Lee IM, 2006. Dairy products, calcium and prostate cancer risk. British Journal of Cancer, 95, 1582-1585.
- Kurahashi N, Inoue M, Iwasaki M, Sasazuki S and Tsugane AS, 2008. Dairy product, saturated fatty acid, and calcium intake and prostate cancer in a prospective cohort of Japanese men. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 17, 930-937.
- Kyttälä P, Ovaskainen M, Kronberg-Kippilä C, Erkkola M, Tapanainen H, Tuokkola J, Veijola R, Simell O, Knip M and Virtanen SM, 2008. The Diet of Finnish Preschoolers. B32/2008, National Public Health Institute, 158 pp.
- Kyttälä P, Erkkola M, Kronberg-Kippila C, Tapanainen H, Veijola R, Simell O, Knip M and Virtanen SM, 2010. Food consumption and nutrient intake in Finnish 1-6-year-old children. Public Health Nutrition, 13, 947-956.
- Laaksonen DE, Laukkanen JA, Niskanen L, Nyyssonen K, Rissanen TH, Voutilainen S, Pukkala E, Hakkarainen A and Salonen JT, 2004. Serum linoleic and total polyunsaturated fatty acids in relation to prostate and other cancers: a population-based cohort study. International Journal of Cancer, 111, 444-450.
- Lappe JM, Travers-Gustafson D, Davies KM, Recker RR and Heaney RP, 2007. Vitamin D and calcium supplementation reduces cancer risk: results of a randomized trial. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 85, 1586-1591.



- Lappe JM and Heaney RP, 2008. Calcium supplementation: Results may not be generalisable. British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition), 336, 403.
- Larsson SC, Virtanen MJ, Mars M, Mannisto S, Pietinen P, Albanes D and Virtamo J, 2008. Magnesium, calcium, potassium, and sodium intakes and risk of stroke in male smokers. Archives of Internal Medicine, 168, 459-465.
- Levitzky YS, Cupples LA, Murabito JM, Kannel WB, Kiel DP, Wilson PW, Wolf PA and O'Donnell CJ, 2008. Prediction of intermittent claudication, ischemic stroke, and other cardiovascular disease by detection of abdominal aortic calcific deposits by plain lumbar radiographs. American Journal of Cardiology, 101, 326-331.
- Li K, Kaaks R, Linseisen J and Rohrmann S, 2012. Associations of dietary calcium intake and calcium supplementation with myocardial infarction and stroke risk and overall cardiovascular mortality in the Heidelberg cohort of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition study (EPIC-Heidelberg). Heart, 98, 920-925.
- Liaw Y-P, Huang Y-C and Lo P-Y, 2003. Nutrient intakes in relation to cancer mortality in Taiwan. Nutr. Res., 23, 1597-1606.
- Lind L, Skarfors E, Berglund L, Lithell H and Ljunghall S, 1997. Serum calcium: a new, independent, prospective risk factor for myocardial infarction in middle-aged men followed for 18 years. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 50, 967-973.
- Lopes C, Oliveira A, Santos AC, Ramos E, Gaio AR, Severo M and Barros H, 2006. Consumo alimentar no Porto. Faculdade de Medecina da Universidade do Porto, 172 pp.
- Manios Y, Grammatikaki E, Papoutsou S, Liarigkovinos T, Kondaki K and Moschonis G, 2008. Nutrient intakes of toddlers and preschoolers in Greece: the GENESIS study. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 108, 357-361.
- Markowitz ME, Sinnett M and Rosen JF, 2004. A randomized trial of calcium supplementation for childhood lead poisoning. Pediatrics, 113, e34-39.
- Marniemi J, Alanen E, Impivaara O, Seppanen R, Hakala P, Rajala T and Ronnemaa T, 2005. Dietary and serum vitamins and minerals as predictors of myocardial infarction and stroke in elderly subjects. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 15, 188-197.
- Matkovic V, Ilich JZ, Andon MB, Hsieh LC, Tzagournis MA, Lagger BJ and Goel PK, 1995. Urinary calcium, sodium, and bone mass of young females. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 62, 417-425.
- Medarov BI, 2009. Milk-alkali syndrome. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 84, 261-267.
- Mitrou PN, Albanes D, Weinstein SJ, Pietinen P, Taylor PR, Virtamo J and Leitzmann MF, 2007. A prospective study of dietary calcium, dairy products and prostate cancer risk (Finland). International Journal of Cancer, 120, 2466-2473.
- Moser-Veillon PB, Mangels AR, Vieira NE, Yergey AL, Patterson KY, Hill AD and Veillon C, 2001. Calcium fractional absorption and metabolism assessed using stable isotopes differ between postpartum and never pregnant women. Journal of Nutrition, 131, 2295-2299.
- MRI, 2008. National Verzehrs Studie II. Ergebnisbericht, Teil 2. Die bundesweite Befragung zur Ernährung von Jugendlichen und Erwachsenen. Max Rubner-Institut Bundesforschungsinstitut für Ernährung und Lebensmittel, 307 pp.
- Mursu J, Robien K, Harnack LJ, Park K and Jacobs DR, Jr., 2011. Dietary supplements and mortality rate in older women: the Iowa Women's Health Study. Archives of Internal Medicine, 171, 1625-1633.
- O'Seaghdha CM, Yang Q, Glazer NL, Leak TS, Dehghan A, Smith AV, Kao WH, Lohman K, Hwang SJ, Johnson AD, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, Chen YD, Consortium G, Brown EM, Siscovick



DS, Harris TB, Psaty BM, Coresh J, Gudnason V, Witteman JC, Liu YM, Kestenbaum BR, Fox CS and Kottgen A, 2010. Common variants in the calcium-sensing receptor gene are associated with total serum calcium levels. Human Molecular Genetics, 19, 4296-4303.

- Ocke MC, van Rossum CTM, Fransen HP, Buurma EJM, de Boer EJ, Brants HAM, Niekerk EM, van der Laan JD, Drijvers JJMM and Ghameshlou Z, 2008. Dutch National Food Consumption Survey Young Children 2005/2006. RIVM Report 350070001/2008, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 105 pp.
- Ohno Y, Yoshida O, Oishi K, Okada K, Yamabe H and Schroeder FH, 1988. Dietary beta-carotene and cancer of the prostate: a case-control study in Kyoto, Japan. Cancer Research, 48, 1331-1336.
- Oishi K, Okada K, Yoshida O, Yamabe H, Ohno Y, Hayes RB and Schroeder FH, 1988. A casecontrol study of prostatic cancer with reference to dietary habits. Prostate, 12, 179-190.
- Park SY, Murphy SP, Wilkens LR, Stram DO, Henderson BE and Kolonel LN, 2007a. Calcium, vitamin D, and dairy product intake and prostate cancer risk: the Multiethnic Cohort Study. American Journal of Epidemiology, 166, 1259-1269.
- Park Y, Mitrou PN, Kipnis V, Hollenbeck A, Schatzkin A and Leitzmann MF, 2007b. Calcium, dairy foods, and risk of incident and fatal prostate cancer: the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. American Journal of Epidemiology, 166, 1270-1279.
- Patel AM and Goldfarb S, 2010. Got calcium? Welcome to the calcium-alkali syndrome. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 21, 1440-1443.
- Paturi M, Tapanainen H, Reinivuo H and Pietinen P, 2008. The National FINDiet 2007 Survey. Report B23/2008. KTL-National Public Health Institute. Helsinki.
- Pedersen AN, Fagt S, Groth MV, Christensen T, Biltoft-Jensen A, Matthiessen J, Lyhne Andersen N, Kørup K, Hartkopp H, Hess Ygil K, Hinsch HJ, Saxholt E and Trolle E, 2010. Danskernes kostvaner 2003-2008. Hovedresultater [Dietary habits in Denmark 2003-2008. Main results]. DTU Fødevareinstituttet, Søborg, 298 pp.
- Pentti K, Tuppurainen MT, Honkanen R, Sandini L, Kroger H, Alhava E and Saarikoski S, 2009. Use of calcium supplements and the risk of coronary heart disease in 52-62-year-old women: The Kuopio Osteoporosis Risk Factor and Prevention Study. Maturitas, 63, 73-78.
- Perez AV, Picotto G, Carpentieri AR, Rivoira MA, Peralta Lopez ME and Tolosa de Talamoni NG, 2008. Minireview on regulation of intestinal calcium absorption. Emphasis on molecular mechanisms of transcellular pathway. Digestion, 77, 22-34.
- Platz EA, Leitzmann MF, Hollis BW, Willett WC and Giovannucci E, 2004. Plasma 1,25-dihydroxyand 25-hydroxyvitamin D and subsequent risk of prostate cancer. Cancer Causes and Control, 15, 255-265.
- Prince RL, Devine A, Dhaliwal SS and Dick IM, 2006. Effects of calcium supplementation on clinical fracture and bone structure: results of a 5-year, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in elderly women. Archives of Internal Medicine, 166, 869-875.
- Ramon JM, Bou R, Romea S, Alkiza ME, Jacas M, Ribes J and Oromi J, 2000. Dietary fat intake and prostate cancer risk: a case-control study in Spain. Cancer Causes and Control, 11, 679-685.
- Reid IR, Schooler BA, Hannan SF and Ibbertson HK, 1986. The acute biochemical effects of four proprietary calcium preparations. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Medicine, 16, 193-197.
- Reid IR, Ames RW, Evans MC, Gamble GD and Sharpe SJ, 1993. Effect of calcium supplementation on bone loss in postmenopausal women. New England Journal of Medicine, 328, 460-464.
- Reid IR, Ames RW, Evans MC, Gamble GD and Sharpe SJ, 1995. Long-term effects of calcium supplementation on bone loss and fractures in postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled trial. American Journal of Medicine, 98, 331-335.



- Reid IR, Mason B, Horne A, Ames R, Reid HE, Bava U, Bolland MJ and Gamble GD, 2006. Randomized controlled trial of calcium in healthy older women. American Journal of Medicine, 119, 777-785.
- Reid IR, Ames R, Mason B, Reid HE, Bacon CJ, Bolland MJ, Gamble GD, Grey A and Horne A, 2008. Randomized controlled trial of calcium supplementation in healthy, nonosteoporotic, older men. Archives of Internal Medicine, 168, 2276-2282.
- Riccardi D and Brown EM, 2010. Physiology and pathophysiology of the calcium-sensing receptor in the kidney. American Journal of Physiology. Renal Physiology, 298, F485-499.
- Riggs BL, O'Fallon WM, Muhs J, O'Connor MK, Kumar R and Melton LJ, 3rd, 1998. Long-term effects of calcium supplementation on serum parathyroid hormone level, bone turnover, and bone loss in elderly women. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 13, 168-174.
- Rodriguez C, McCullough ML, Mondul AM, Jacobs EJ, Fakhrabadi-Shokoohi D, Giovannucci EL, Thun MJ and Calle EE, 2003. Calcium, dairy products, and risk of prostate cancer in a prospective cohort of United States men. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 12, 597-603.
- Rohrmann S, Platz EA, Kavanaugh CJ, Thuita L, Hoffman SC and Helzlsouer KJ, 2007. Meat and dairy consumption and subsequent risk of prostate cancer in a US cohort study. Cancer Causes and Control, 18, 41-50.
- Ross RK, Yuan JM, Henderson BE, Park J, Gao YT and Yu MC, 1997. Prospective evaluation of dietary and other predictors of fatal stroke in Shanghai, China. Circulation, 96, 50-55.
- Russo D, Miranda I, Ruocco C, Battaglia Y, Buonanno E, Manzi S, Russo L, Scafarto A and Andreucci VE, 2007. The progression of coronary artery calcification in predialysis patients on calcium carbonate or sevelamer. Kidney International, 72, 1255-1261.
- Sargent JD, Stukel TA, Kresel J and Klein RZ, 1993. Normal values for random urinary calcium to creatinine ratios in infancy. Journal of Pediatrics, 123, 393-397.
- Sargent JD, Dalton MA, O'Connor GT, Olmstead EM and Klein RZ, 1999. Randomized trial of calcium glycerophosphate-supplemented infant formula to prevent lead absorption. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 69, 1224-1230.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2003. Opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of Calcium. SCF/CS/NUT/UPPLEV/64 Final, 39 pp.
- Schaafsma A, van Doormaal JJ, Muskiet FA, Hofstede GJ, Pakan I and van der Veer E, 2002. Positive effects of a chicken eggshell powder-enriched vitamin-mineral supplement on femoral neck bone mineral density in healthy late post-menopausal Dutch women. British Journal of Nutrition, 87, 267-275.
- Schlingmann KP, Kaufmann M, Weber S, Irwin A, Goos C, John U, Misselwitz J, Klaus G, Kuwertz-Broking E, Fehrenbach H, Wingen AM, Guran T, Hoenderop JG, Bindels RJ, Prosser DE, Jones G and Konrad M, 2011. Mutations in CYP24A1 and idiopathic infantile hypercalcemia. New England Journal of Medicine, 365, 410-421.
- Schuurman AG, van den Brandt PA, Dorant E and Goldbohm RA, 1999. Animal products, calcium and protein and prostate cancer risk in The Netherlands Cohort Study. British Journal of Cancer, 80, 1107-1113.
- Sette S, Le Donne C, Piccinelli R, Arcella D, Turrini A and Leclercq C, 2010. The third Italian National Food Consumption Survey, INRAN-SCAI 2005-06 Part 1: Nutrient intakes in Italy. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 1-11.
- Sowers MR, Jannausch M, Wood C, Pope SK, Lachance LL and Peterson B, 1998. Prevalence of renal stones in a population-based study with dietary calcium, oxalate, and medication exposures. American Journal of Epidemiology, 147, 914-920.



- Tavani A, Gallus S, Franceschi S and La Vecchia C, 2001. Calcium, dairy products, and the risk of prostate cancer. Prostate, 48, 118-121.
- Tavani A, Bertuccio P, Bosetti C, Talamini R, Negri E, Franceschi S, Montella M and La Vecchia C, 2005. Dietary intake of calcium, vitamin D, phosphorus and the risk of prostate cancer. European Urology, 48, 27-33.
- Taylor EN, Stampfer MJ and Curhan GC, 2004. Dietary factors and the risk of incident kidney stones in men: new insights after 14 years of follow-up. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 15, 3225-3232.
- Tetens I, Biltoft-Jensen A, Spagner C, Christensen T, Gille MB, Bugel S and Banke Rasmussen L, 2011. Intake of micronutrients among Danish adult users and non-users of dietary supplements. Food & Nutrition Research, 55, 7153-7161.
- Tseng M, Breslow RA, Graubard BI and Ziegler RG, 2005. Dairy, calcium, and vitamin D intakes and prostate cancer risk in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Epidemiologic Follow-up Study cohort. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 81, 1147-1154.
- Tzonou A, Signorello LB, Lagiou P, Wuu J, Trichopoulos D and Trichopoulou A, 1999. Diet and cancer of the prostate: a case-control study in Greece. International Journal of Cancer, 80, 704-708.
- Umesawa M, Iso H, Date C, Yamamoto A, Toyoshima H, Watanabe Y, Kikuchi S, Koizumi A, Kondo T, Inaba Y, Tanabe N and Tamakoshi A, 2006. Dietary intake of calcium in relation to mortality from cardiovascular disease: the JACC Study. Stroke, 37, 20-26.
- Umesawa M, Iso H, Ishihara J, Saito I, Kokubo Y, Inoue M, Tsugane S and Group JS, 2008. Dietary calcium intake and risks of stroke, its subtypes, and coronary heart disease in Japanese: the JPHC Study Cohort I. Stroke, 39, 2449-2456.
- Van der Vijver LP, van der Waal MA, Weterings KG, Dekker JM, Schouten EG and Kok FJ, 1992. Calcium intake and 28-year cardiovascular and coronary heart disease mortality in Dutch civil servants. International Journal of Epidemiology, 21, 36-39.
- Van Pelt N, Ruygrok P, Bolland MJ, Gamble GD, Mason B, Ames R and Reid IR, 2009. Do calcium supplements lead to an increase in coronary calcification? Heart, Lung, Circulation, 18S, S 241.
- van Rossum CTM, Fransen HP, Verkaik-Kloosterman J, Buurma-Rethans EJM and Ocké MC, 2011. Dutch National Food Consumption Survey 2007-2010: Diet of children and adults aged 7 to 69 years. RIVM Report number: 350050006/2011, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 148 pp.
- Vlajinac H, Ilic M and Sipetic S, 2001. A case-control study of diet and prostate cancer. J BUON, 6, 177-181.
- Vlajinac HD, Marinkovic JM and Ilic MD, 1997. Diet and prostate cancer: a case-control study. European Journal of Cancer, 33, 101-107.
- Walker M, Aronson KJ, King W, Wilson JW, Fan W, Heaton JP, MacNeily A, Nickel JC and Morales A, 2005. Dietary patterns and risk of prostate cancer in Ontario, Canada. International Journal of Cancer, 116, 592-598.
- Walker RM and Linkswiler HM, 1972. Calcium retention in the adult human male as affected by protein intake. Journal of Nutrition, 102, 1297-1302.
- Wallace RB, Wactawski-Wende J, O'Sullivan MJ, Larson JC, Cochrane B, Gass M and Masaki K, 2011. Urinary tract stone occurrence in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) randomized clinical trial of calcium and vitamin D supplements. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 94, 270-277.



- Wang L, Manson JE, Song Y and Sesso HD, 2010. Systematic review: Vitamin D and calcium supplementation in prevention of cardiovascular events. Annals of Internal Medicine, 152, 315-323.
- WCRF/AICR (World Cancer Research Fund/ American Institute of Cancer Research), 2007. Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and the Prevention of Cancer: A Global Perspective. 517 pp.
- Weaver C, 2001. Calcium. In: Present knowledge in nutrition. Eds Bowman B, Russell R. ILSI Press, Washington, DC, 273-280.
- Weng LC, Yeh WT, Bai CH, Chen HJ, Chuang SY, Chang HY, Lin BF, Chen KJ and Pan WH, 2008. Is ischemic stroke risk related to folate status or other nutrients correlated with folate intake? Stroke, 39, 3152-3158.
- Whiting SJ, Green TJ, MacKenzie EP and Weeks SJ, 1998. Effects of excess protein, sodium and potassium on acute and chronic urinary calcium excretion in young women. Nutrition Research, 18, 475-487.
- Wilson PW, Kauppila LI, O'Donnell CJ, Kiel DP, Hannan M, Polak JM and Cupples LA, 2001. Abdominal aortic calcific deposits are an important predictor of vascular morbidity and mortality. Circulation, 103, 1529-1534.
- Wong ND, Gransar H, Shaw L, Polk D, Moon JH, Miranda-Peats R, Hayes SW, Thomson LE, Rozanski A, Friedman JD and Berman DS, 2009. Thoracic aortic calcium versus coronary artery calcium for the prediction of coronary heart disease and cardiovascular disease events. JACC. Cardiovascular imaging, 2, 319-326.



APPENDICES

A. INTAKE OF CALCIUM AMONG ADULTS IN EUROPEAN COUNTRIES

Nutrient	a	a .	D				Age		Age	Population / Fortified			D 7 5	D0.5	D05 5
source	Sex	Country	(Elmodfo at al	Dietary method	n		min		max	foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P95	P97.5
Food	Women	Austria	(Enhadra et al., 2009)	24-hour recall	426	<	25	>	35	pregnant 2nd trimester	919.0				
					76	<	25		25	pregnant 2nd trimester	798.0				
					288		25		35	pregnant 2nd trimester	919.0				
					62		35	>	35	pregnant 2nd trimester	1,078.0				
			(Pedersen et al.,	7-day record (data collected in						1 0					
		Denmark	2010)	2003-2008)	150		18		24		1,040.0			1,619.0	
					340		25		34		1,106.0			1,843.0	
					412		35		44		1,058.0			1,787.0	
					359		45		54		961.0			1,585.0	
					326		55		64		926.0			1,559.0	
					198		65		75		880.0			1,582.0	
			(Tetens et al., 2011)	7-day record and interview (data	671		10		40	Non supplement users	020.0			1 675 0	
			2011)	conected in 2000-2004)	071		10		49	Supplementa users	1 014 0			1,075.0	
					825		18		49	Supplements users	1,014.0			1,712.0	
					280		50		/5	Non supplement users	834.0			1,524.0	
				48-hour recall and two 3-day	599		50		/5	Supplements users	864.0			1,589.0	
				records for the usual intakes over											
			(Paturi et al.,	the past year (assessment of						Usual intakes.					
		Finland	2008)	underreporters)	641		25		74	Underreporters excluded	1,000.0			1,700.0	
		Germany	(MRI, 2008)	24-hour recall + Dietary History	510		19		24		1,039.0			1,756.0	
					972		25		34		1,061.0			1,804.0	
					2,694		35		50		1,067.0			1,815.0	
					1,840		51		64		1,011.0			1,700.0	
					1,562		65		80		918.0			1,553.0	
			(IUNA (Irish Universities												
			Nutrition												
			Alliance),								_				
		Ireland	2011)	4-day record	255		18		35		772.0			1,388.0	1,590.0
					232		36		50		775.0			1,289.0	1,436.0
					153		51		64		782.0			1,226.0	1,397.0



Nutrient						Age	Age	Population / Fortified					
source	Sex	Country	References	Dietary method	n	min	max	foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P95	P97.5
Food	Women	Italy	(Sette et al., 2010)	Consecutive 3-day food record	1,245	18	< 65	Including fortified food	730.0			1,233.0	
					316	65	99	Including fortified food	754.0			1,285.0	
		Poland	(Flynn et al., 2009)	24-hour recall	1,656	18	96		516.0			1,113.0	
		Spain	(Flynn et al., 2009) (Becker and	Two non-consecutive 24-hour recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample)	895	18	64	Data collected in Catalonia	767.0			1,045.0	
		Sweden	Pearson, 2002)	7-day record	67	17	24		937.0			1,436.0	
					128	25	34		973.0			1,421.0	
					143	35	44		888.0			1,362.0	
					118	45	54		901.0			1,451.0	
					68	55	64		927.0			1,607.0	
					65	65	74		937.0			1,504.0	
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	347	19	30			910.0		1 482 0	
		i (cuici iunus	un, 2011)		351	31	50			953.0		1,102.0	
					353	51	69			985.0		1,510.0	
			(Pedersen et al.,	7-day record (data collected in					,	,		-,	
Food	Men	Denmark	2010)	2003-2008)	105	18	24		1,374.0			2,182.0	
					234	25	34		1,235.0			2,071.0	
					318	35	44		1,182.0			1,967.0	
					336	45	54		1,073.0			1,898.0	
					336	55	64		955.0			1,742.0	
			(Tetens et al.	7-day record and interview (data	240	65	75		952.0			1,669.0	
			2011)	collected in 2000-2004)	663	18	49	non supplement users	1,043.0			1,937.0	
					587	18	49	supplements users	1,125.0			1,931.0	
					363	50	75	non supplement users	829.0			1,492.0	
					491	50	75	supplements users	859.0			1,639.0	
			(Paturi et al.,	48-hour recall and two 3-day records for the usual intakes over the past year (assessment of				Usual intakes.					
		Finland	2008)	underreporters)	637	25	74	Underreporters excluded	1,286.0			2,000.0	



Food Men Germany (MR, 2008) 24-hour recall + Dictary History 510 19 24 1,281.0 2,422.0 2070 25 34 1,252.0 2,226.0 2,020.0 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,856.0	Nutrient source	Sex	Country	References	Dietary method	n	Age min	Age max	Population / Fortified foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P95	P97.5
600 25 34 1,252.0 2,226.0 2,079 35 50 1,167.0 2,109.0 1,460 65 80 970.0 1,669.0 1,469 65 80 970.0 1,669.0 1,469 65 80 970.0 1,669.0 1,410 1,410.0 1,910.0 1,856.0 1,105.0 1,856.0 1,110 1,011 4-day record 205 36 50 1,023.0 1,836.0 1,110 1,110 1,439.0 1,230.0 1,836.0 1,230.0 1,836.0 1,110 1,110 1,230.0 1,230.0 1,589.0 1,230.0 1,589.0 1,110 1,230.0 1,230.0 1,230.0 1,433.0 1,433.0 1,433.0 1,433.0 1,110 1,110 1,110 1,110.0 1,143.0 1,243.0 1,230.0 1,230.0 1,233.0 1,110 1,110 1,110.0 1,143.0 1,143.0 1,243.0 1,243.0	Food	Men	Germany	(MRI, 2008)	24-hour recall + Dietary History	510	19	24		1,281.0			2,422.0	
1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1633 51 64 1071.0 10000 10600 1469 65 80 970.0 1669.0 1669.0 1469 65 80 970.0 1669.0 1669.0 1469 65 80 970.0 1669.0 1669.0 1469 65 50 1.023.0 1.856.0 1.856.0 1010000 4-day record 205 36 50 1.023.0 1.836.0 11100 2011.0 4-day record 205 36 50 1.023.0 1.836.0 11100 2011.0 4-day record 205 36 50 1.023.0 1.836.0 11100 2011.0 4-day record 205 36 50 1.023.0 1.836.0 11100 2011.0 2011.0 1.023.0 1.838.0 1.433.0 1.433.0 1.433.0 1.433.0 1.433.0 1.433.0 1.433.0 1.433.0						690	25	34		1,252.0			2,226.0	
Index Index <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>2,079</td><td>35</td><td>50</td><td></td><td>1,167.0</td><td></td><td></td><td>2,109.0</td><td></td></td<>						2,079	35	50		1,167.0			2,109.0	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $						1,633	51	64		1,071.0			1,908.0	
(UNA (fish Universities Nutrition (Iish Universities Nutrition 4 day record 276 18 35 1,105.0 1,856.0 Ireland 2011) 4 day record 205 36 50 1,023.0 1,836.0 Ireland 2011) 4 day record 205 36 50 1,023.0 1,836.0 Ireland 2011) 4 day record 205 36 50 1,023.0 1,836.0 Ireland 2011) 4 day record 205 36 50 1,023.0 1,836.0 Ireland 2011) 4 day record 205 36 50 1,023.0 1,836.0 Ireland 2011) 4 day record 205 36 50 1,023.0 1,836.0 Ireland 2011) 6 day record 1068 18 6 56 1,433.0 1,433.0 Ireland 2009 1 24-hour recall 1,324 18 6 Data collected in Catalonia. 821.0 1,203.0 Spain 2009 7 7 day record 7 24 1,201.0 2,073.0						1,469	65	80		970.0			1,669.0	
Ireland 2011) 4-day record 205 36 50 1.023.0 1.836.0 Italy (Sette et al., 2010) Consecutive 3-day food record 153 51 64 957.0 1.589.0 Poland (Sette et al., 2010) Consecutive 3-day food record 1.068 18 < 65			Ireland	(IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), 2011) (IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance)	4-day record	276	18	35		1,105.0			1,856.0	2,091.0
Italy Sette et al., 2010 Consecutive 3-day food record 153 51 64 957.0 1,589.0 Italy 2010 Consecutive 3-day food record 1,068 18 65 Including fortified food 799.0 1,433.0 Poland 2009 Consecutive 2-4-hour recall 1,324 18 96 658.0 1,428.0 Spain (Flynn et al., 2009) 24-hour recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample) 718 18 64 Data collected in Catalonia. 821.0 1,203.0 Sweden (Becker and Pearson, 2002) 7-day record 67 17 24 1,201.0 2,073.0 118 45 54 1,090.0 1,719.0 1,638.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,659.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 118 55 64 1,04			Ireland	2011)	4-day record	205	36	50		1,023.0			1,836.0	2,103.0
Italy (Sette et al., 2010) Consecutive 3-day food record 1,068 18 < 65 Including fortified food 799.0 1,433.0 Poland (Flynn et al., 2009) 24-hour recall 1,324 18 96 658.0 1,428.0 Spain (Flynn et al., 2009) 24-hour recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample) 718 18 64 Data collected in Catalonia. 821.0 1,203.0 Spain (Becker and Pearson, 2002) 7-day record 67 17 24 1,201.0 2,073.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 1,638.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,659.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,659.0					-	153	51	64		957.0			1,589.0	1,812.0
Poland (Flynn et al., 2009) 24-hour recall 1,324 18 96 658.0 1,403.0 Spain (Flynn et al., 2009) 24-hour recall 1,324 18 96 658.0 1,428.0 Spain (Flynn et al., 2009) Two non-consecutive 24-hour recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample) 718 18 64 Data collected in Catalonia. 821.0 1,203.0 Sweden (Becker and Pearson, 2002) 7-day record 67 17 24 1,201.0 2,073.0 143 35 44 1,099.0 1,719.0 1,638.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 68 55 64 1,035.0 1,699.0 158 65 74 1,064.0 1,868.0			Italy	(Sette et al., 2010)	Consecutive 3-day food record	1,068	18	< 65	Including fortified food	799.0			1,433.0	
Poland (Fynn et al., 2009) 24-hour recall 1,324 18 96 658.0 1,428.0 Spain (Flynn et al., 2009) Two non-consecutive 24-hour recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample) 718 18 64 Data collected in Catalonia. 821.0 1,203.0 Spain (Becker and Pearson, 2002) 7-day record 67 17 24 1,201.0 2,073.0 128 25 34 1,090.0 1,719.0 1,638.0 1,638.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 1,638.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 1,699.0 The (van Rossum et Two, non-consecutive 24-hour 24-hour 24-hour 24-hour 24-hour						202	65	99	Including fortified food	825.0			1,403.0	
Spain (Flynn et al., recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample) 718 18 64 Data collected in Catalonia. 821.0 1,203.0 Sweden (Becker and Pearson, 2002) 7-day record 67 17 24 1,201.0 2,073.0 128 25 34 1,090.0 1,719.0 143 35 44 1,029.0 1,638.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 68 55 64 1,035.0 1,699.0 The (van Bossum et Two_non-consecutive 24-hour 24-hour			Poland	(Flynn et al., 2009)	24-hour recall Two non-consecutive 24-hour	1,324	18	96		658.0			1,428.0	
Sweden (Becker and Pearson, 2002) 7-day record 67 17 24 1,201.0 2,073.0 128 25 34 1,090.0 1,719.0 143 35 44 1,029.0 1,638.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 68 55 64 1,035.0 1,699.0 18 45 54 1,064.0 1.868.0			Spain	(Flynn et al., 2009)	recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample)	718	18	64	Data collected in Catalonia.	821.0			1,203.0	
Sweden Pearson, 2002) 7-day record 67 17 24 1,201.0 2,073.0 128 25 34 1,090.0 1,719.0 143 35 44 1,029.0 1,638.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 68 55 64 1,035.0 1,699.0 65 65 74 1,064.0 1.868.0				(Becker and										
128 25 34 1,090.0 1,719.0 143 35 44 1,029.0 1,638.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 68 55 64 1,035.0 1,699.0 65 65 74 1,064.0 1.868.0			Sweden	Pearson, 2002)	7-day record	67	17	24		1,201.0			2,073.0	
143 35 44 1,029.0 1,638.0 118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 68 55 64 1,035.0 1,699.0 65 65 74 1,064.0 1.868.0						128	25	34		1,090.0			1,719.0	
118 45 54 1,041.0 1,657.0 68 55 64 1,035.0 1,699.0 65 65 74 1,064.0 1.868.0						143	35	44		1,029.0			1,638.0	
68 55 64 1,035.0 1,699.0 65 65 65 74 1,064.0 1.868.0						118	45	54		1,041.0			1,657.0	
65 65 74 1,064.0 1.868.0 The (van Rossum et Two non-consecutive 24-hour 24-hour						68	55	64		1,035.0			1,699.0	
The (van Rossum et Two non-consecutive 24-hour						65	65	74		1,064.0			1.868.0	
Net where $d = 2011$ distance and $256 = 10 = 20$ $10000 = 1.7770$			The	(van Rossum et	Two non-consecutive 24-hour	256	10	20			1 090 0		1 777 0	
Ineineriands ai., 2011) dietary recails 550 19 50 1,080.0 1,777.0 249 21 50 $1.052.0$ $1.052.0$ $1.052.0$			inetherlands	ai., 2011)	dietary recalls	330 249	19	50			1,080.0		1,///.0	
348 51 50 1,136.0 1,852.0						251	51	50			1,130.0		1,852.0	



Nutrient						Age		Age	Population / Fortified					
source	Sex	Country	References	Dietary method	n	min]	max	foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P95	P97.5
	Men		(Do Vriese et											
Food	women	Belgium	(De Vilese et al., 2006)	Two 24-hour recall	873	19		59		813.3		978.0		
2000		2019.0111	un, 2000)		822	60		74		695.4		847.0		
					744	75		75		622.7		755.0		
					/44	15	/	15		025.7		755.0		
			(Dufour et al.,		1 0 1 0	10		-	Non under-reporters.					4
		France	2010) (IUNA (Irish	7-day record	1,918	18		79	Without fortified food.	913.1			1,487.5	1,652.0
			Universities											
			Nutrition											
			Alliance),											
		Ireland	2011) (Longs et al.	4-day record	226	65	>	65		840.0			1,518.0	1,654.0
		Portugal	(Lopes et al., 2006)	Food frequency questionnaire	478	18		39	Data collected in Porto	1,027.3			1,714.3	
		8	,	1 2 1	537	40		49		915.1			1,600.7	
					789	50		64		922.6			1 629 3	
					585	65	_	65		8828			1,514.7	
					565	05	/	05		002.0			1,514.7	
		United	(Bates et al.,		007	10		<i>с</i> 1		020.0				1 5 4 2 0
		Kingdom	2011)	4-day record	807	19		64		830.0				1,542.0
					224	65	>	65	Assessment of the	871.0				1,630.0
									consumption of					
									supplements among 282					
			(Elmadfa et al.,	Quantitative consumption					adults in all Austria (77					
Supplements	Women	Austria	2009)	frequency questionnaire	28	18		65	supplement users)		200.0	353.0		
		Germany	(MRI 2008)	24-hour recall + Dietary History	40	19		24	Users of calcium	288.0			500.0	
		Germany	(11111, 2000)	2 Histi Feetin + Dietary History	10	1)		21	Users of calcium	200.0			200.0	
					84	25		34	supplements	198.0			500.0	
					295	25		50	Users of calcium	272.0			200.0	
					285	33		50	Users of calcium	272.0			800.0	
					324	51		64	supplements	353.0			1,000.0	
									Users of calcium					
					338	65		80	supplements	409.0			1,200.0	



Nutrient						Age	Age	Population / Fortified					
source	Sex	Country	References	Dietary method	n	min	max	foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P95	P97.5
			(Elmadfa et al	Quantitative consumption				Assessment of the consumption of supplements among 282 adults in all Austria					
Supplements	Men	Austria	(Elinadia et al., 2009)	frequency questionnaire	21	18	65	(77 supplement users) Users of calcium		162.0	341.0		
		Germany	(MRI, 2008)	24-hour recall + Dietary History	38	19	24	supplements Users of calcium	188.0			500.0	
					53	25	34	supplements Users of calcium	203.0			620.0	
					152	35	50	supplements	236.0			600.0	
					146	51	64	Users of calcium supplements Users of calcium	245.0			620.0	
					182	65	80	supplements	319.0			1,200.0	
Food and	Womon	Donmark	(Tetens et al.,	7-day record and interview (data	8 25	19	40	Supplements users	1 120 0			1 991 0	
supplements	women	Dennark	2011)	conected in 2000-2004)	023	10	49	Supplements users	1,130.0			1,001.0	
				40.1 11 1 4 2 1	599	50	75	Supplements users	1,018.0			1,899.0	
		Finland	(Paturi et al., 2008) (IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition	48-hour recall and two 3-day records for the usual intakes over the past year (assessment of underreporters)	641	25	74	Usual intakes. Underreporters excluded	1,190.0			1,830.0	
		T . 1 1	Alliance),	4 days are and	255	10	25		704.0			1 204 0	1 (55.0
		Ireland	2011)	4-day record	235	10	55		/94.0			1,394.0	1,055.0
					232	36	50		824.0			1,394.0	1,702.0
					153	51	64		874.0			1,630.0	1,842.0
		Poland	(Flynn et al., 2009)	24-hour recall Two non-consecutive 24-hour	1,656	18	96		523.0			1,121.0	
		Spain	(Flynn et al., 2009)	recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample)	895	18	64	Including fortified food. Data collected in Catalonia.	779.0			1,069.0	
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	347	19	30			918.0		1,501.0	
					351	31	50			983.0		1,602.0	
					353	51	69			1.026.0		1.686.0	



Nutrient						Age	Age	Population / Fortified					
source	Sex	Country	References	Dietary method	n	min	max	foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P95	P97.5
Food and			(Tetens et al.,										
supplements	Men	Denmark	2011)	7-day record and interview	587	18	49	Supplements users	1,228.0			2,029.0	
					491	50	75	Supplements users	970.0			1,785.0	
		Finland	(Paturi et al., 2008) (IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition	48-hour recall and two 3-day records for the usual intakes over the past year (assessment of underreporters)	637	25	74	Usual intakes. Underreporters excluded	1,300.0			2,100.0	
		Ireland	Alliance), 2011)	4-day record	276	18	35		1 122 0			1 877 0	2 091 0
		ii chullu	2011)	i duy locold	205	36	50		1,122.0			1,836.0	2,091.0
					153	51	64		981.0			1,600.0	1 830 0
		Poland	(Flynn et al., 2009)	24-hour recall Two non-consecutive 24-hour	1,324	18	96		662.0			1,428.0	1,050.0
		Spain	(Flynn et al., 2009)	recalls (one for all, a second for 62 % of the sample)	718	18	64	Including fortified food. Data collected in Catalonia	831.0			1,217.0	
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	356	19	30			1,091.0		1,791.0	
					348	31	50			1,154.0		1,869.0	
					351	51	69			1,109.0		1,818.0	
Food and	Men and		(IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance),										
supplements	women	Ireland	2011)	4-day record	226	65 >	65		954.0			2,106.0	2,337.0
		United Kingdom	(Bates et al., 2011)	4-day record	807	19	64		850.0				1,663.0
					224	65 >	65		902.0				1,677.0

NB: white: less than ~50 years. grey: over ~50 years



B. INTAKE OF CALCIUM AMONG CHILDREN IN EUROPEAN COUNTRIES

X								Population / Fortified						
Nutrient source	Sex	Country	Reference	Dietary method	n	Age min	Age max	foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P90	P95	P97.5
Food	Boys and girls	The Netherlands	(de Boer et al., 2006)	2-day record (independent days)	333	0.75	0.75	Including fortified food	730.0		812.0	915.0		
					306	1	1	Including fortified food	824.0		938.0	1,085.0		
Food and supplements Food and	Girls	Finland	(Kyttälä et al., 2008; 2010) (Kyttälä et al	3-day record	198	1	1	non breast-fed infants genetically at-risk of type 1 diabetes non breast-fed infants genetically at-risk of type	696.0		885.0			
supplements	Boys	Finland	2008; 2010)	3-day record	257	1	1	1 diabetes	670.0		886.0			
Food	Girls	Denmark	(Andersen et al., 1996)	7-day record	149	1	3		996.0				1,325.0	
		The Netherlands	(Ocke et al., 2008)	2-day record (independent days)	313	2	3		734.0				1,089.0	
Food	Boys	Denmark	(Andersen et al., 1996)	7-day record	129	1	3		910.0				1,359.0	
		The Netherlands	(Ocke et al., 2008)	2-day record (independent days)	327	2	3		788.0				1,180.0	
Food	Boys and girls	Greece Italy	(Manios et al., 2008) (Sette et al., 2010)	3-day record (weighed food records and 24 h recall or food diaries) Consecutive 3-day food records	2,317 52	1 0	5 < 3	Non under-reporters. Possible inclusion of supplements not mentioned Including fortified food	1,024.0 664.0			1,392.0	1,070.0	
		The Netherlands United Kingdom	(de Boer et al., 2006) (Bates et al., 2011)	2-day record (independent days) 4-day food diary	302 219	1.5	1.5	Including fortified food	866.0 773.0			1,082.0		1.365.0
		imguom	2011)	r day 1000 diary	21)	1.5	5		115.0					1,505.0
Food and supplements	Girls	Finland	(Kyttälä et al., 2008; 2010)	3-day record	118	2	2	Children genetically at- risk for type 1 diabetes	870.0		1,019.0			
					235	3	3		881.0		1,062.0			
		The Netherlands	(Ocke et al., 2008)	2-day record (independent days)	313	2	3		740.0				1,099.0	



Nutrient source	Sex	Country	Reference	Dietary method	n	Age min	Age max	Population / Fortified foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P90	P95	P97.5
Food and supplements	Boys	Finland	(Kyttälä et al., 2008; 2010)	3-day record	112	2	2	Children genetically at- risk for type 1 diabetes	844.0		1,037.0			
					236	3	3		925.0		1,109.0			
		The Netherlands	(Ocke et al., 2008)	2-day record (independent days)	327	2	3		795.0				1,184.0	
Food and supplements	Boys and girls	United Kingdom	(Bates et al., 2011)	4-day food diary	219	1.5	3		775.0					1.365.0
		Inguon	(IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition											1,00010
Food	Girls	Ireland	Alliance), a)	7-day record	301	5	12		804.0				1,274.0	1,434.0
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	151	7	8			817.0			1,353.0	
					352	9	13			846.0			1,393.0	
Food	Boys	Ireland	(IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), a)	7-day record	293	5	12		907.0				1,488.0	1,578.0
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	153	7	8			878.0			1,495.0	
					351	9	13			943.0			1,587.0	
Food	Boys and girls	Denmark	(Pedersen et al., 2010)	7-day record	903	4	14		1,072.0				1,776.0	
		Italy	(Sette et al., 2010)	Consecutive 3-day food records	52	3	< 10	Including fortified food	749.0				1,197.0	
		Germany	(Flynn et al., 2009)	3-day record	1,234	6	11		870.0				1,352.0	
		Poland	(Flynn et al., 2009)	24-hour recall	455	4	10		595.0				1,134.0	



Nutrient	Sex	Country	Reference	Dietary method	n	Age	Age	Population / Fortified foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P90	P95	P97.5
Food	Boys and girls	Spain	(Flynn et al., 2009)	24-hour recall and food frequency questionnaire, a second 24-hour recall in 25-30 % of the sample	723	4	10		867.0				1,123.0	
		The Netherlands	(Flynn et al., 2009)	2-day record (independent days)	639	4	6	Including fortified food	716.0				1,155.0	
		United Kingdom	(Bates et al., 2011)	4-day food diary	423	4	10		804.0					1,339.0
Food and supplements	Girls	Finland	(Kyttälä et al., 2008; 2010)	3-day record	247 349	4	4	Children genetically at- risk for type 1 diabetes	930.0 991 0		1,089.0 1,172.0			
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	151	7	8		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	852.0	1,11210		1,408.0	
Food and supplements	Boys	Finland	(Kyttälä et al., 2008; 2010)	3-day record	352 307 364	9 4 6	13 4 6	Children genetically at- risk for type 1 diabetes	983.0 1,103.0	856.0			1,418.0	
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	153 351	7 9	8 13			892.0 964.0			1,505.0 1,623.0	
Food and supplements	Boys and girls	Germany	(Flynn et al., 2009) (IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition	3-day record	1,234	6	11		874.0				1,352.0	
		Ireland Poland	Alliance), a) (Flynn et al., 2009)	7-day record 24-hour recall	594 455	5 4	12 10		862.0 598.0				1,433.0 1,134.0	



								Population / Fortified						
Nutrient						Age	Age	foods included or						
source	Sex	Country	Reference	Dietary method	n	min	max	excluded	mean	median	P75	P90	P95	P97.5
Food and supplements	Boys and girls	Spain	(Flynn et al., 2009) (Enghardt- Barbieri et al.,	24-hour recall and food frequency questionnaire, a second 24-hour recall in 25-30 % of the sample	723	4	10	Including fortified food	898.0				1,151.0	
		Sweden	2006)	4-day record	590	4	4		855.0				1,330.0	
					889	8	9		959.0				1,537.0	
					1,016	11	12		878.0				1,519.0	
		The Netherlands	(Flynn et al., 2009)	2-day record (independent days)	639	4	6		724.0				1,165.0	
					639	4	6	Including fortified food	811.0				1,247.0	
		United Kingdom	(Bates et al., 2011)	4-day food diary	423	4	10		804.0					1,339.0
Food	Girls	Denmark	(Pedersen et al., 2010) (IUNA (Irish Universities	7-day record	134	14	17		966.0				1,699.0	
		Ireland	Alliance), b)	7-day record	217	13	17		734.0				1,376.0	1,554.0
		Italy	(Sette et al., 2010)	Consecutive 3-day food records	139	10	< 18	Including fortified food	770.0				1,306.0	
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	354	14	18			876.0			1,435.0	



								Population / Fortified						
Nutrient	a	a	D			Age	Age	foods included or			D#5	DOA	D0.5	D07 5
source	Sex	Country	(Pedersen et al	Dietary method	n	min	max	excluded	mean	median	P75	P90	P95	P97.5
Food	Boys	Denmark	(IUNA (Irish Universities	7-day record	101	14	17		1,288.0				2,245.0	
		Ireland	Alliance), b)	7-day record	224	13	17		1,063.0				1,905.0	2,047.0
		Italy	(Sette et al., 2010)	Consecutive 3-day food records	108	10	< 18	Including fortified food	892.0				1,435.0	
		The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	352	14	18			1,010.0			1,679.0	
Food	Boys and girls	Belgium	(De Vriese et al., 2006)	Two 24-hour recall	806	15	18		787.9		966.0			
		Germany	(Flynn et al., 2009)	3-day record	1,272	12	17		1,337.0				2,400.0	
		Spain	(Flynn et al., 2009)	24-hour recall and food frequency questionnaire, a second 24-hour recall in 25-30 % of the sample	1,137	11	17		878.0				1,231.0	
		United Kingdom	(Bates et al., 2011)	4-day food diary	453	11	18		785.0					1,522.0
Supplements	Girls	Germany	(MRI, 2008)	24-hour recall + Dietary History	34	14	18		189.0				1,000.0	
Supplements	Boys	Germany	(MRI, 2008)	24-hour recall + Dietary History	43	14	18		189.0				500.0	
Food and supplements	Girls	The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	354	14	18			872.0			1,433.0	
Food and supplements	Boys	The Netherlands	(van Rossum et al., 2011)	Two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls	352	14	18			1,010.0			1,692.0	



Nutrient source	Sex	Country	Reference	Dietary method	n	Age min	Age max	Population / Fortified foods included or excluded	mean	median	P75	P90	P95	P97.5
Food and supplements	Boys and girls	Germany	(Flynn et al., 2009)	3-day record	1,272	12	17		1,350.0				2,422.0	
			(IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition		1,272	12	17	Including fortified food	1,396.0				2,515.0	
		Ireland	Alliance), b) (Flynn et al.	7-day record	441	13	17		906.0				1,657.0	
		Poland	2009)	24-hour recall	581	11	17		1,398.0				2,975.0	
		Spain	(Flynn et al., 2009)	24-hour recall and food frequency questionnaire, a second 24-hour recall in 25-30 % of the sample	1,137	11	17	Including fortified food	900.0				1,267.0	
		United Kingdom	(Bates et al., 2011)	4-day food diary	453	11	18		786.0					1,522.0

NB: First white section: infants. First grey section: ~1-3 years. Second white section: older children. Second grey section: ~teenagers



GLOSSARY AND ABBREVIATIONS

1,25-(OH) ₂ -D	1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol
25(OH)D	25-Hydroxy-vitamin D
AVC	Aortic valve calcification
BMI	Body Mass Index
CAC	Coronary artery calcification
CAS	Calcium-alkali-syndrome
CaSR	Calcium-sensing receptor
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CI	Confidence interval
СТ	Computed tomography
CV	Cardiovascular
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
СҮР	Cytochrome
PEPIC	European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition
FFQ	Food frequency questionnaire
HR	Hazard ratio
IoM	Institute of Medicine
IU	International Unit
JACC	Japan Collaborative Cohort
LOAEL	Lowest-observed-adverse-effect-level
MAS	Milk-alkali syndrome
NCX1	Na/Ca Exchanger 1
NOAEL	No observable adverse effect level
OMIM	Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man
РМСА	Plasma-membrane Ca-ATPase
PTH	Parathyroid hormone





RCT	Randomised controlled trial
RR	Relative risk
SCF	Scientific Committee on Food
TRPV	Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid
UL	Tolerable Upper Intake Level
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
WCRF/AICR	World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research
WHI	Women's Health Initiative